UC Irvine UC Irvine Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Media Coverage of Mass shootings and Attitudes Towards Muslims

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0bb595s0

Author Mercier, Brett Gregory

Publication Date

Copyright Information

This work is made available under the terms of a Creative Commons Attribution License, available at https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, IRVINE Media Coverage of Mass shootings and Attitudes Towards Muslims

DISSERTATION

To be submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

In Psychological Science by Brett Gregory Mercier

> Dissertation Committee: Professor Peter Ditto, Chair Associate Professor Azim Shariff Associate Professor Paul Piff

© 2021 Brett Gregory Mercier

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	Page
	vi
	vii
VITA	viii
ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION	viii x
	1
Attitudes Towards Muslims	1
Media Coverage	2
Media Coverage of Minority Groups	4
Media Coverage of Muslims	7
Partisan Media Coverage	8
Mass Shootings	9
Why Study News Coverage of Mass Shootings?	9
Definition of a Mass Shooting	10
Media Coverage of Mass Shootings	11
Effect of Mass Shootings on Public Attitudes	11
Overview of Studies	12
STUDY 1: Do Muslim Mass Shooters get more Media Coverage?	13
Methods	13
Violence Project Database of Mass Shootings in the United States	13
Television News Coverage	15
Covariate Justification	16
Results	17
Descriptive Analyses of Total Coverage	17
Do Muslim Mass Shooters Get More Coverage?	18
Content Differences Between Muslim and Non-Muslim Mass Shooters	23
STUDY 2: Does Exposure to a Muslim Mass Shooter Increase Prejudice Towards Muslims?	27
Research Questions	29
Methods	30
Measures	31
Results	32
STUDY 3: Beliefs About the Frequency of Muslim Mass Shooters	36
Hypotheses	37
Methods	37
Participants	37
Measures	38
Results	40
STUDY 4: Effects of News Coverage of Mass Shootings with Muslim Perpetrators	43

Hypotheses	44
Methods	44
Participants	44
Procedure	45
Measures	45
Results	46
Discussion	47
STUDY 5: Replication of Study 4	48
Methods	48
Participants and Procedure	48
Results	48
Discussion	49
STUDY 6A: What Happens When a Shooter's Religion is not Reported?	51
Research Questions	51
Methods	52
Participants	52
Procedure	52
Results	53
STUDY 6B: Replication of Study 6A	54
Methods	54
Participants	54
Results	54
Discussion	55
GENERAL DISCUSSION	57
Partisan Media Coverage	58
Attitudes Towards Muslims vs Beliefs About Muslim Mass Shooters	61
Interaction with Attitudes Towards Muslims	61
Beliefs About Minority and Majority Groups	62
News Coverage and Policy Support	62
Conclusion	63
REFERENCES	64
APPENDIX A	80
APPENDIX B	81
APPENDIX C	82

LIST OF FIGURES

		Page
Figure 1	Television Coverage of Mass Shootings between 2010 and 2020	17
Figure 2	Estimated Coverage of Mass Shootings	17
Figure 3	Average Coverage in the 14 Days Following a Shooting	21
Figure 4	Effect of News Coverage by Study	32
Figure 5	Estimated Percentage of Mass Shooters Who are Muslim by Study	40

LIST OF TABLES

		Page
Table 1	Information About Mass Shooters Included in Study 1	14
Table 2	Estimated Minutes of Coverage per Day (Seven Days After a Mass Shooting)	18
Table 3	Estimated Minutes of Coverage per Day (14 Days After a Mass Shooting)	19
Table 4	Estimated Minutes of Coverage per Day (Excluding Four Mass Shootings)	20
Table 5	Parameter Estimates from Model Comparing Each News Network	22
Table 6	Estimated Minutes of Mental Illness Coverage per Day (Seven Days After a Mass Sho	oting)
		24
Table 7	Summary of Past Studies Analyzed in Study 2	31
Table 8	Demographic Information for Participants in Studies 3-6	37

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my graduate advisor, Dr. Azim Shariff, for his support, mentorship, and dedication to science. I would also like to thank Dr. Pete Ditto for involving me in his lab and supervising me at UCI. I thank Dr. Paul Piff for being a great collaborator and mentor.

I thank the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada for their generous financial support in the form of a PhD fellowship. I also thank the University of California, Irvine, for a dissertation fellowship.

VITA

Brett Mercier Department of Psychological Science University of California, Irvine

Education 2019 - 2021	Ph.D. Psychology. University of California, Irvine. Supervisors: Dr. Pete Ditto; Dr. Azim Shariff Dissertation: "Media Coverage of Mass shootings and Attitudes Towards Muslims
2019	M.A. Psychology. University of California, Irvine. Supervisor: Dr. Azim Shariff Thesis: "Muslim Mass Shooters are Seen as Less Mentally III and More Motivated by Religion"
2016	M.S. Psychology. University of Oregon. Supervisor: Dr. Azim Shariff Thesis: "Do Religious Beliefs Influence Support for Government Income Redistribution?"
2014	B.A. Psychology (Deans List, Honors). MacEwan University. Supervisor: Dr. Craig Blatz Thesis: "Extreme positions, moderate ideologies: Identifying when false polarization does and does not occur"

Publications

- Wiwad, D., Mercier, B., Piff, P. K., Shariff, A. F., & Aknin, L. B. (2020). Recognizing the Impact of COVID-19 on the Poor Alters Attitudes Towards Poverty and Inequality. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology.* 93. 1-8. Study materials, data, R code for analyses, and preregistration available at: https://osf.io/8byzd/.
- Ebersole, C. R., Mathur, M. B., Baranski, E., Bart-Plange, D., Buttrick, N. R., ... Mercier, B., ... & Nosek, B. A. (2020). Many Labs 5: Testing pre-data collection peer review as an intervention to increase replicability. Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science. 3 (3), 1-23.
- Chartier, C. R., Arnal, J. D., Arrow, H. Bloxsom, N. G., Bonfiglio, D. B. V. ... Brett Mercier, ... & Tocco, C. (2020). Many Labs 5: Registered Replication of Albarracín et al. (2008), Experiment 5. Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science. 3 (3) 332–339.
- Mercier, B., Wiwad, D., Piff, P. K., Aknin, L., Robinson, A. R., & Shariff, A. (2020). Does Belief in Free Will Increase Support for Economic Inequality? *Collabra: Psychology*, 6(1): 1-25 Study materials, data, R code for analyses, and preregistrations available at: https://osf.io/zmygv/
- Wiwad, D., Piff, P. K., Robinson, A. R., Aknin, L., Mercier, B., & Shariff, A. F. (2020). Shifting Attributions for Poverty Motivates Opposition to Inequality and Enhances Egalitarianism. *Nature Human Behavior.* 4, 496-505. Study materials, data, code for analyses, and preregistrations available at: https://osf.io/dkhs2/
- Landy, J. F., Jia, M., Ding I. L., Viganola, D. Tierney, W., ...**Mercier, B.,** ...Uhlmann, E. L. (2019) Crowdsourcing hypothesis tests: Making transparent how design choices shape research results. *Psychological Bulletin.* 46(5), 451–479.
- Wiwad, D., Mercier, B., Maraun, M. D., Robinson, A. R., Piff, P. K., Lara, A. B., & Shariff, A.F. (2019). Support for Economic Inequality: Scale Development and Adjudication. *PloS one.* 14(6). Study materials, data, code for analyses, and preregistrations available at: https://osf.io/cmzye/

- Mercier, B., Norris, A., & Shariff, A. F., (2018). Muslim Mass Shooters are Perceived as Less Mentally III and More Motivated by Religion. *Psychology of Violence 8*(6),772-781. Study materials, data, and code for analyses are available at: https://osf.io/gn4kh/
- Mercier, B., Kramer, S. R., & Shariff, A. F. (2018). Belief in God: Why People Believe, and Why They Don't. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *27*(4), 263-268.
- Blatz, C. W., & Mercier, B. (2018). False Polarization and False Moderation: Political Opponents Overestimate the Extremity of Each Other's Ideologies but Underestimate Each Other's Certainty. Social Psychological and Personality Science, 9(5), 521-529.
- Mercier, B. & Shariff, A. F. (2018). The Geographies of Religious and Non-Religious Morality. In J. Graham and K. Gray (Eds.), *The Atlas of Moral Psychology*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Shariff, A. F., & **Mercier**, **B.** (2016). The Evolution of Religion and Morality. In J. R. Liddle & T. K. Shackelford (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Evolutionary Psychology and Religion*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Manuscripts in Progress

Mercier, B., Celniker, J., Shariff, A. F. (2020). Overestimating Explicit Prejudice Causes Democrats to Believe Disadvantaged Groups are Less Electable. Manuscript in preparation. Pre-print available at https://psyarxiv.com/s52qz/

Fellowships, Honors, and Awards

Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada Postdoctoral Fellowship (2021-2023; \$90.000) University of California, Irvine, Social Ecology Dean's Dissertation Writing Fellowship (\$13,400) Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada Doctoral Fellowship (2015-2019; \$80,000) Sir James Lougheed Award of Distinction (\$15,000) Joseph-Armand Bombardier Canada Graduate Scholarship (\$17,500; declined) Dean's Award of Excellence, outstanding academic achievement and leadership (\$3,000) Canadian Psychological Association Certificate of Academic Excellence Louise McKinney Scholarship, top 2% of undergraduate students in Alberta (\$5,000) John and Barbara Poole Family Scholarship (\$4,000) MacEwan Undergraduate Student Research Initiative (\$1500) MacEwan Continuing Student Scholarship, GPA over 3.7 (\$3,400) Alexander Rutherford Scholarship (\$1,200) MacEwan Foundation Scholarship (\$1,000) MacEwan Student's Association Scholarship (\$500) Best Presentation Award: 2nd place, 4th Annual Associated Graduate Students Symposium. (\$250)

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Media Coverage of Mass shootings and Attitudes Towards Muslims By

Brett Mercier DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY In Psychological Science University of California, Irvine, 2021 Professor Peter Ditto, Chair

Using television news coverage of American mass shootings, I examine how Muslim perpetrators of violence are covered differently in liberal and conservative media. Furthermore, I examine the consequences of this coverage, including its effects on prejudice towards Muslims and beliefs about the extent to which Muslims are responsible for acts of violence. In Study 1, I show that between 2010 and 2020, television news networks allocated more coverage to Muslim than non-Muslim mass shooters, even when statistically controlling for other factors influencing coverage (e.g. fatalities, location). The increase in coverage for Muslim shooters was larger for more politically conservative news networks. In Study 2, I test whether news coverage of Muslim mass shootings can increase negative attitudes towards Muslims. Across five different experiments with a total of 3331 participants, I did not find evidence that this is the case. The remaining studies examine whether media coverage can impact beliefs about the role Muslims play in mass shootings. In Study 3, I find that public beliefs about mass shootings mirror the picture presented in television news: people overestimate the percentage of mass shooters who are Muslim, and this overestimation is largest among frequent viewers of news networks that allocate more coverage to Muslim shooters. Study 4 used an experiment to demonstrate that exposure to news coverage of a Muslim mass shooter increases the extent to which people overestimate the percentage of mass shooters who are Muslim. Study 5 replicates this finding by comparing responses to media coverage of the 2021 shootings in Boulder, Colorado and Atlanta, Georgia, two contemporaneous mass shootings with Muslim and Christian perpetrators. Finally, Study 6A and 6B find that, because many people assume an unidentified mass shooter is likely to be Muslim, exposure to news coverage of an unidentified shooter also increases the extent to which people overestimate of the percentage of mass shooters who are Muslim. Overall, I demonstrate that major news networks provide systematically different media coverage

Х

of mass shootings when the perpetrator is Muslim. This coverage fuels misperceptions about the role Muslims play in causing mass shootings and may misdirect efforts to effectively address mass violence.

INTRODUCTION

Despite accounting for only a small fraction of gun deaths, mass shootings are one of Americans' biggest fears (Chapman University, 2018a). The outsized fear of mass shootings, and of the groups scapegoated as responsible for them, is likely heavily influenced by decisions media organizations make when covering these events. To investigate this process, this dissertation examines news coverage of mass shootings committed by Muslims, a group often stereotyped as committing religious violence (Sides & Gross, 2013).

I begin by reviewing the existing research on prejudice towards Muslims. I then review research on media coverage and public attitudes, including research on how media coverage can affect prejudice. Finally, I describe past research on mass shootings and argue that news coverage of mass shootings presents an ideal context to study how news media cover Muslims.

After reviewing the literature, I attempt to answer several unresolved questions about Muslims and media coverage. In Study 1, I test whether liberal and conservative media cover Muslim perpetrators differently than non-Muslim perpetrators. In Study 2, I examine how this coverage might affect prejudice towards Muslims, a minority religious group which frequently faces discrimination in the United States. Although Study 2 is not the first study to test whether media coverage increases prejudice towards Muslims, it provides (to my knowledge) the most comprehensive experimental test of this question to date. Studies 3-5 test whether news coverage can contribute to the belief that Muslims commit acts of violence, a common negative stereotype about Muslims. Finally, Studies 6A and 6B examine whether changing the information presented in news coverage of mass shootings is an effective way to reduce the extent to which media coverage contributes to negative beliefs about Muslims.

Attitudes Towards Muslims

Muslims are the most disliked religious group in America (Pew Research Center, 2017a). More than half of Americans hold an unfavorable view of Muslims (Pew Research Center, 2007), and a third of Americans say they would not vote for a Muslim presidential candidate, even if the candidate was a qualified member of their preferred political party (Gallup, 2020; Mercier et al., 2021). One in seven Americans say they would refuse to accept a Muslim into their family (Pew Research Center, 2019b).

Americans' dislike of Muslims appears to be centered around the belief that Islam is a violent religion which inspires terrorism. Many Americans believe Islam is more likely to inspire violence than other religions and believe there is considerable support for terrorism among American Muslims (Pew Research Center, 2010). For example, one survey found that a third of Americans believe there is at least a "fair amount" of support for extremism among Muslims living in the United States (Pew Research Center, 2017c). Additionally, although Muslims are frequently associated with terrorism, they are typically not seen negatively in other ways. As an illustration of this, one national survey found that Americans believe Muslims are violent and untrustworthy, but do not think they are lazy or unintelligent (Sides & Gross, 2013).

Stereotypes about Islam and terrorism are probably why roughly half of Americans support antiterrorism policies that specifically target Muslims, such as banning Muslims from entering the United States (Mathis-Lilley, 2017), increasing law enforcement presence in Muslim neighborhoods (Easley, 2016), and requiring that Muslims receive extra screening at airports (Chapman University, 2018b).

The belief that Islam is a uniquely violent religion may be caused, at least in part, by media coverage which frequently portrays Muslims as perpetrators of violence, especially violence connected to terrorism. Before discussing media portrayals of Muslims, I first review the past research examining how media coverage is allocated across different events, and how this media coverage can affect public attitudes.

Media Coverage

Political communications research indicates that one of the main ways the media can influence public discourse is by selecting the events and issues people consider important, a phenomenon referred to as "agenda setting" (McCombs & Shaw, 1972). Research on agenda setting has found a strong correlation between the amount of media coverage a topic receives and the importance that members of the public place on this topic (McCombs, 2018; McCombs & Donald, 1993). For example, during the 1990 presidential election, the amount of television news coverage devoted to a political issue (e.g. "drug abuse") predicted public perceptions of the importance of that topic a week later (Wanta & Hu, 1994).

Early research on media argued that agenda setting was the primary method by which the media influenced the public, and the media had limited ability to change public attitudes. That is, a common

assumption was that media "may not be successful much of the time in telling people what to think, but it is stunningly successful in telling its readers what to think about" (Cohen, 1963). However, in contrast to the these initial assumptions, subsequent research demonstrated that media coverage can have a significant influence on public attitudes and beliefs (R. J. Harris & Sanborn, 2013). For example, the frequency with which an event is portrayed in the media can have influence public beliefs about the frequency with which that event occurs (Busselle & Shrum, 2003; Eisenman, 1993). Researchers argue that this occurs because people judge the frequency of events by the ease with which they can be recalled, a tendency referred to as the "availability heuristic" (Tversky & Kahneman, 1973). When events are frequently portrayed in the media, consumers find it easy to recall these events, causing them to believe these events are more common (Busselle & Shrum, 2003; Slater & Rasinski, 2005). This process is especially likely to occur when someone lacks other sources of information about the frequency of an event, such as personal experience (Busselle & Shrum, 2003).

An important issue where media coverage can shift public attitudes is crime. Most Americans have little firsthand experience with crime, making news coverage their primary source of information about it (Alderman, 1994; Schildkraut & Elsass, 2016). This is problematic for several reasons. First, news media spend a lot of time covering crime (Baranauskas, 2020; Graber & Dunaway, 2015), with some researchers estimating that as much as 25% of all news coverage is crime related (Gilliam et al., 1996). The large amount of media coverage allocated to crime causes the public to overestimate the prevalence of crime and increases public fears of victimization (Larsen, 2020; Velásquez et al., 2020). As one demonstration of this, longitudinal research has found that the amount of news coverage allocated to crime is a better predictor of public fear of crime than crime rates (Lowry et al., 2003).

The fact that media provides the main source of public information about crime is also problematic because news media do not cover all crimes equally. Instead, certain crimes receive more coverage than others, presenting the public with a distorted picture of crime. Rare crimes, including violent crimes and homicides, receive significantly more coverage than more common, non-violent crimes like theft (Chermak, 1995; Dixon et al., 2003). This is likely why members of the public misunderstand the rates at which different crimes occur and overestimate the rates of violent crimes, like homicides (Hough & Joberts, 2005; Miller et al., 2004; O'Connell & Whelan, 1996; Vandiver & Giacopassi, 1997). Increased

media coverage of violent crime may also lead the public to overestimate the likelihood that criminal activities involve violence (Gregg & Posner, 1990). Consistent with this, members of the public overestimate the percentage of robberies which result injury to the victims (Stalans, 1993). This overestimation is largest among people who report receiving information about robberies primarily through mass media (rather than from both the media and from friends or family; Stalans, 1993).

In sum, a large amount of news coverage is allocated to crime, causing the public to overestimate the frequency with which crime occurs. News coverage of crime disproportionately focuses on rare crimes, like homicides, leading the public to misunderstand the rates at which different crimes occur.

In addition to these issues, media coverage also frequently misrepresents the types of people who are likely to commit crimes. In the next section, I review research on how these media misrepresentations can distort public beliefs about the rate at which crimes are committed by different racial groups.

Media Coverage of Minority Groups

In many countries, news media portray the racial dynamics of crime in a way that significantly departs from reality (Dowler, 2004; Gilchrist, 2010; Im et al., 2017). For example, in the United States, criminal perpetrators who are racial minorities are overrepresented in news coverage of crime relative to the rates at which they commit crimes (as measured by official crime statistics; Dixon, 2019; Dixon & Williams, 2015; Gruenewald et al., 2009). Similarly, racial minorities are underrepresented as victims of crime (Dixon & Linz, 2000a; Dixon & Williams, 2015; Sorenson et al., 1998). Caucasians, on the other hand, tend to be underrepresented as perpetrators of crime, overrepresented as victims of crime, and overrepresented as police officers (Dixon & Linz, 2000; Oliver, 1994).

Although American crime news misrepresents a number of different racial groups, including Latinos (Gruenewald et al., 2009), Asians (Sorenson et al., 1998), and Native Americans (Poindexter et al., 2003), media distortion research in the United States has most frequently focused on the representation of African Americans as criminal preparators (Dixon, 2019). This research indicates that African Americans are overrepresented as criminals in a number of different media sources, including newspapers, magazines, local television news, and cable television news (Barlow, 1998; Bjornstrom et al., 2010; Dixon & Linz, 2000a; Gilliam & Iyengar, 2000; Romer et al., 1998). This research also spans a

number of decades, with studies examining coverage as far back as 1946 (Barlow, 1998). Recent studies have suggested that the overrepresentation of African Americans as criminals may be declining (Dixon, 2017). Indeed, one study finds that between 2008 and 2012, African Americans were *underrepresented* as criminal perpetrators on cable news (Dixon & Williams, 2015).

Building these findings, researchers have also examined how exposure to news coverage can affect attitudes, especially towards race and the criminal justice system. For example, a large body of experimental research has examined the consequences of exposure to crime news with African American perpetrators. These studies have found that news coverage of African American perpetrators can cause a variety of attitude changes, such as increasing: modern racism (Gilliam & Iyengar, 2000), negative implicit associations with African Americans (Mastro et al., 2009), support for harmful treatment of African Americans by police (Johnson et al., 2008), the belief that African Americans are violent and likely to commit crimes (Peffley et al., 1996), fear of crime (Gilliam et al., 1996; Gilliam & Iyengar, 2000; although see also Holt, 2013), support for punitive criminal justice policies (Dixon, 2006a; Gilliam & Iyengar, 2000; although see also Dixon, 2008; Dixon & Maddox, 2005; Gilliam et al., 1996; Mastro et al., 2009), dispositional attributions for crime (Gilliam & Iyengar, 2000; although see also Holt, 2013), group-based explanations for crime (Gilliam et al., 1996), disapproval of a Democratic president (Valentino, 1999), emotional discomfort (Dixon & Maddox, 2005), perceptions that criminal perpetrators are likely to reoffend (Mastro et al., 2009), perceptions that the world is a dangerous place (Dixon, 2006a), perceptions that criminal defendants are often guilty (Dixon, 2006b; Dixon & Azocar, 2007; Hurley et al., 2015), and support for the police (Hurley et al., 2015). Experiments have also found that exposure to news coverage of African American perpetrators can change behaviors towards African Americans, such as increasing the likelihood that people will shoot an unarmed black perpetrator in a laboratory task (Correll et al., 2007).

Despite the large number of published studies examining the consequences of media coverage of African Americans perpetrators, it is unclear what conclusions can be drawn from this research. This is partially because many studies on this topic have produced conflicting results. For example, although some studies find that exposure to news coverage of African American perpetrators increases punitive

attitudes towards criminals (Dixon, 2006a; Gilliam & Iyengar, 2000), other studies have failed to find evidence for this effect (Dixon, 2008; Dixon & Maddox, 2005; Gilliam et al., 1996; Mastro et al., 2009).

In addition, many of the studies on media coverage and prejudice use research practices which have been shown to increase the chance of spurious findings (Button et al., 2013; loannidis, 2005; Simmons et al., 2011), raising doubts about the veracity of their results. To elaborate on one of the most common issues, most of the studies which examine news coverage of African American perpetrators use small samples (e.g. n < 20 per cell), providing low statistical power and increasing the chance that a statistically significant result will be a false positive (Button et al., 2013). In the few cases where studies do have large samples, these samples appear to be obtained in methodologically questionable ways. For example, in a frequently cited paper, Gilliam and Iyengar (2000) use a large sample (n = 2331) to test the consequences of news coverage of African American perpetrators. However, this sample is acquired by combining data from five separate studies. Although pooling data from multiple studies can be a useful method of increasing sample size (Mcshane & Böckenholt, 2017), when the decision to pool data is made after viewing the study results (as appears to be true in this case) pooling data can significantly increase the rate of false positives (Vosgerau et al., 2019). Additionally, when data is pooled across samples, researchers need to statistically adjust the standard errors to account for between sample variation (Curran & Hussong, 2009). Gilliam and Iyengar (2000) do not do this. As most of their effects are only slightly below the p = .05 threshold for statistical significance, it is likely that a re-analysis of their data which correctly adjusts for between sample variance would not find statistically significant effects.

Another frequent issue in the research on news coverage and prejudice is an inconsistent, and likely post-hoc, use of moderating variables. Although the use of moderators is not itself problematic, the inconsistent use of moderators in the research on news coverage suggests that moderation analyses are likely being conducted post-hoc after researchers fail to observe a significant effect without the moderator. This practice has been shown to significantly increase the chances of false positive research findings (Simmons et al., 2011). For example, the effects of exposure to news coverage of an African American perpetrator are sometimes found only when prior frequency of news viewing is included as a moderator (Dixon, 2006a, 2006b, 2007; Dixon & Maddox, 2005; Hurley et al., 2015) and sometimes found regardless of prior news viewing (Dixon, 2006a, 2007; Hurley et al., 2015). Effects are also sometimes

moderated by endorsement of negative stereotypes of African Americans (Dixon, 2006a, 2008; Gilliam et al., 1996; Gilliam & Iyengar, 2000; Valentino, 1999) and are sometimes found regardless of stereotype endorsement (Dixon, 2006a, 2008; Dixon & Azocar, 2007; Hurley et al., 2015; Oliver, 2003). Other variables which inconsistently moderate the effects of news coverage include participants' gender (Mastro et al., 2009) and ethnicity (Gilliam & Iyengar, 2000; Hurley et al., 2015).

In sum, racial minorities, particularly African Americans, are often overrepresented as criminal perpetrators in American news coverage. Although many studies have examined the consequences of this coverage, inconsistent findings and methodological issues make it difficult to draw clear conclusions from this research. In the next section, I review research that looks specifically at media coverage of Muslims.

Media Coverage of Muslims

In western countries, media coverage of Muslims tends to be negative in tone and frequently portrays Islam as a violent religion (Ahmed & Matthes, 2017). Although the media has a bias towards negativity when covering most topics coverage of Muslims is more negative than coverage focusing on otherwise similar content, such as coverage of other ethic minorities or religions (Trussler & Soroka, 2014). For example, text analysis of American newspapers from 1996 to 2015 found that coverage of Muslims used more negative words than coverage of Hindus, Catholics, or Jews (Bleich & van der Veen, 2018). Similarly, articles about terrorism used more negative language when they mentioned Muslims than when they did not mention Muslims (Bleich & van der Veen, 2018).

In addition to presenting Muslims in a negative light, media sources tend to frame coverage of Muslims in a way that is consistent with stereotypes about Muslims and religious violence. When political violence is committed by Muslims, news articles are more likely to call this violence terrorism and are more likely to discuss potential links between the perpetrator and larger terrorist organizations (Betus et al., 2019; Mitnik et al., 2020; Nagar, 2010; Powell, 2011).

As news coverage often frames Muslim perpetrators in the context of terrorism, many members of the media have claimed that alternative explanations for violence, such as mental illness, are mentioned less frequently in news coverage when a perpetrator is Muslim (Arva et al., 2017; Butler, 2015; Vedantam, 2017). However, contrary to this media narrative, empirical research on news coverage of

terrorist attacks has not found evidence that mental illness is less likely to be mentioned in articles about Muslim perpetrators (Betus et al., 2019).

In addition to examining how the content of news coverage differs between Muslim and non-Muslim perpetrators, research has also compared the magnitude of coverage. This research demonstrates that terrorist attacks committed by Muslims receive significantly more media coverage than terrorist attacks committed by non-Muslims (Dixon & Williams, 2015; Kearns et al., 2019; Mitnik et al., 2020). For example, Kearns, Betus, and Lemieux (2019) find that between 2006 and 2015, terrorist attacks with Muslim perpetrators received more news coverage than terrorist attacks with non-Muslim perpetrators.

Partisan Media Coverage

Although many studies have examined news coverage of Muslim perpetrators, research has not studied whether this coverage differs based on the political leaning of news organizations. This is surprising, as members of the popular press (Butler, 2015; Fox News Staff, 2021) and academic researchers (Kearns et al., 2019; Silva, 2019) frequently speculate about how Muslim perpetrators are being covered differently in liberal and conservative media.

Past research has found that liberal and conservative media sources present different news coverage on a range of politically relevant topics, including climate change (Bohr, 2020), gay marriage (Pan et al., 2010), political scandals (Puglisi & Snyder, 2011), protests (Weaver & Scacco, 2013), and economic conditions (Larcinese et al., 2011). As one example of these differences, newspapers that endorse Democratic presidential candidates tend to allocate more news coverage to high unemployment when the sitting president is a Republican, whereas newspapers that endorse Republican presidential candidates devote more coverage to unemployment when the president is a Democrat (Larcinese et al., 2011).

Media sources tend to present information consistent with the views of their audience (Baum et al., 2015), and in the United States, conservative political attitudes are associated with prejudice towards Muslims (Pew Research Center, 2017b). Thus, in America, media with a conservative audience will likely present a more negative picture of Muslims than media with a liberal audience. However, this expected difference in coverage could manifest in different ways. For example, conservative media could provide

more coverage to acts of violence with Muslim perpetrators than liberal media do. Alternatively, liberal and conservative media could allocate the same amount of coverage to Muslim perpetrators but frame this coverage in different ways.

Understanding how Muslim perpetrators are covered differently in liberal and conservative media could contribute to a better understanding of why bias against Muslims occurs. As one example, individuals who are prejudiced towards Muslims perceive Muslim (vs non-Muslim) perpetrators of violence as less mentally ill and more motivated by religion (Mercier et al., 2018; Noor et al., 2019). Understanding whether conservative media is more likely to discuss religion and less likely to discuss mental illness when a perpetrator is Muslim could help determine whether these attributions are caused by media coverage (Mercier et al., 2018).

In Study 1, I examine how the political leaning of a news network affects their coverage of Muslim perpetrators of violence. To do this, I examine news coverage of mass shootings, a specific type of mass violence. Below, I explain why coverage of mass shootings are an appropriate context to study media coverage of Muslims.

Mass Shootings

Why Study News Coverage of Mass Shootings?

There are several reasons why mass shootings are an ideal context to study media representations of Muslims. First, the classification of mass shootings is more objective than classification of other mass violence events. This means that it is reasonable to compare different mass shootings to each other, as mass shootings are reasonably similar events that share a common set of characteristics. Second, mass shootings receive a large amount of media coverage. This coverage tends to focus on the perpetrator of the shooting and their motivation. As a result, if the media treats Muslim perpetrators differently, coverage of mass shootings is a context in which these differences are likely to emerge. Finally, mass shootings have been shown to shift public attitudes on other political issues (e.g. gun control; Newman & Hartman, 2019). Thus, if news coverage does change attitudes towards Muslims, coverage of mass shootings is a case where this change is likely to be observed. Below, I review each of these reasons in detail.

Definition of a Mass Shooting

There is no legal definition of the term "mass shooting" (Bagalman et al. 2013; Nichols 2017), leaving researchers and organizations to develop their own working definitions (Booty et al., 2019). Although many of definitions of a mass shooting exist, almost all definitions require that at least 4 people are killed or injured by firearms in a single incident (or occasionally at least 3 people, see Stanford Mass Shootings in America, 2012). Although a few definitions use only the number of deaths by firearms to determine whether an event is a mass shooting (e.g. Gun Violence Archive, 2020), most definitions include further requirements. The most common additional requirements are that a shooting must have occurred in a public place (Follman et al., 2020), must not be connected to other criminal activity (e.g. gang activity or drug trafficking; Peterson & Densley, 2019), and must not be committed by statesponsored actors (e.g. police officers; Peterson & Densley, 2019).

The classification of mass shootings is more objective than the classification of other mass violence events, such as terrorism (Weinberg et al., 2004), making mass shootings a useful way to compare similar preparators. Determining whether an act of violence should be classified as terrorism requires a subjective assessment of whether the perpetrators of the event had political objectives (FBI.gov, 2021), which may introduce bias. Consistent with this, past research has found that members of the media and the public are more likely to classify violent events as terrorism when they have Muslim perpetrators (Betus et al., 2019; West & Lloyd, 2017). As the threshold for classifying an event as terrorism is lower when a perpetrator is Muslim, comparing news coverage of Muslim and non-Muslim "terrorists" would likely be a comparison of individuals who have committed acts of different severity. In contrast to this, most definitions of mass shooting events require significantly less subjectivity. For example, the Congressional Research Service defines a mass shooting as "a multiple homicide incident in which four or more victims are murdered with firearms... and the murders are not attributable to any other underlying criminal activity or commonplace circumstance" (Congressional Research Service, 2015, p. 10). This type of objective definition means that all mass shootings have met a specific criterion, making them similar events that are appropriate to compare to each other.

Media Coverage of Mass Shootings

Despite accounting for only a small percentage of firearms deaths, mass shootings receive significantly more coverage than other types of gun violence (Bjelopera et al., 2013). This is likely because news media tend to focus on negative events, especially sensational violence and tragedy (Trussler & Soroka, 2014). Consistent with this, the number of fatalities caused by a mass shooting is a strong predictor of the amount of news coverage it will receive (Chermak & Gruenewald, 2006; Duwe, 2000; Schildkraut et al., 2018). News coverage of mass shootings also tends to specifically focus on the perpetrator of the shooting rather than other information about the incident. For example, news coverage is more likely to frame mass shootings as the result of "dangerous people" than as the result of "dangerous weapons" (McGinty et al., 2014). This focus on the perpetrator distinguishes coverage of mass shootings from coverage of single victim homicides, which tends to focus on the victim (Gruenewald et al., 2009), or the details of the relationship between the victim and the perpetrator (Taylor & Sorenson, 2002). Because coverage of mass shootings are a context where these differences are likely to occur.

Effect of Mass Shootings on Public Attitudes

Past research has found that public attitudes on political issues can shift following major mass shootings. For example, support for gun control increases following mass shootings, although this support quickly fades (Newman & Hartman, 2019). Gun sales also increase following mass shootings, suggesting that gun owners are afraid that the increased support for gun control will cause governments to pass gun control legislation (Porfiri et al., 2019; although the feared changes to gun laws almost never occur, see Luca et al., 2020; Newman & Hartman, 2019).

Mass shootings also have the potential to increase stigma towards marginalized groups, such as people with mental illness. In an experimental demonstration of this, McGinty, Webster, and Barry (2013) presented people with a news story about a mass shooting. When this story was accompanied by a proposal to ban people with mental illness from purchasing guns, it increased the belief that people with mental illness are dangerous, relative to when the story was presented alone.

Because mass shootings have been shown to shift public attitudes in other domains, if media coverage does impact attitudes towards Muslims, mass shootings are a situation where these effects are likely to be observed.

Overview of Studies

In this dissertation, I examine media coverage of Muslim mass shooters and its consequences. Study 1 focuses on television coverage of Muslim and non-Muslim mass shootings between 2010-2020, and tests whether this coverage differs based on the political leaning of the news source. In Study 2, I examine whether exposure to information about Muslim mass shooters increases prejudice towards Muslims. In the remaining studies, I examine whether media coverage can cause people to overestimate the share of mass shootings with Muslim perpetrators. Study 3 demonstrates that public perceptions about mass shootings, and the extent to which they are caused by Muslims, match the patterns in news coverage. Specifically, the more time someone spends watching a news network, the more closely their beliefs about Muslim mass shooters correspond with the patterns in that networks' coverage of Muslims. In Studies 4 and 5, I use experiments to show that media coverage of Muslim shooters has a causal impact on the extent to which mass shootings are attributed to Muslims. Finally, Studies 6A and 6B expand on these findings by examining how people respond to media coverage which does not mention a shooter's religion.

STUDY 1: Do Muslim Mass Shooters get more Media Coverage?

Study 1 used news transcripts to estimate the time that Fox News, CNN, and MSNBC—three major news networks from across the political spectrum in the United States—spent covering each of the mass shootings in the Violence Project's database of mass shootings (Peterson & Densley, 2020) between 2010 and 2020. Specifically, Study 1 compared the volume of coverage Muslim and non-Muslim shooters received, as well as the time coverage spend discussing terrorism, mental illness, and religion. Study 1 also tested whether each of these effects were larger for news networks that were more politically conservative (relative to networks that were more liberal). Study 1 was not pre-registered.

Methods

Violence Project Database of Mass Shootings in the United States

Information on mass shootings was obtained from the Violence Project database of mass shootings in the United States (Peterson & Densley, 2020). This database adopts the following definition of a mass shooting from the Congressional Research Service (Congressional Research Service, 2015, p. 10):

a multiple homicide incident in which four or more victims are murdered with firearms—not including the offender(s)—within one event, and at least some of the murders occurred in a public location or locations in close geographical proximity (e.g., a workplace, school, restaurant, or other public settings), and the murders are not attributable to any other underlying criminal activity or commonplace circumstance (armed robbery, criminal competition, insurance fraud, argument, or romantic triangle).

This definition is similar to many other common definitions of a mass shooting in that it requires four more victims and excludes events attributable to other criminal activity. As a result, the shootings included in the Violence Project database significantly overlap with most other mass shooting databases (Booty et al., 2019). A notable exception is the Gun Violence Archive, which includes more shootings than other databases because it uses a broad definition of a mass shooting (any event where four or more people are shot, regardless of motive or number of deaths). I chose not to use the Gun Violence Archive database, even though it is larger and would provide a bigger sample size than the Violence Project database. I made this decision because the Violence Project database is more closely aligned with expert consensus on the definition of mass shooting (Booty et al., 2019). Additionally, the Violence Project database has more information about mass shooters than other databases, and the information it

contains is collected by trained researchers rather than through open source journalism. Specifically, the Violence Project uses trained research assistants to collect information about shootings based on secondary sources, including media reports, court transcripts, and medical records (Peterson & Densley, 2020). Each shooting is coded by two independent coders, with discrepancies resolved by one of the primary investigators of the Violence Project. More details on the methodology used to create the database can be found at https://www.theviolenceproject.org/.

Based on the availability of news data (see below), I chose to examine mass shootings that occurred in the United States between January 1st, 2010 and January 1st, 2020. Within this period, the Violence Project database contains 56 mass shootings with 58 different mass shooters. Descriptive information about these shootings is shown in Table 1.

Table 1

Information About Mass Shooters Included in Study 1

Shooting Characteristic	Number and Percentage Included in Study 1 (n = 58)
Shooters' Race	27 (46.5%) White
	11 (19.0%) Black
	6 (10.3%) Latinx
	6 (10.3%) Middle Eastern
	4 (6.9%) Asian
	2 (3.4%) Other
	2 (3.4%) Unknown
Shooters' Religion	31 (53.4%) Unknown
	9 (15.5%) Christian
	5 (8.6%) Muslim
	5 (8.6%) None
	4 (6.9%) Other
	3 (5.2%) Atheist
	1 (1.7%) Buddhist
Shooters' Sex	54 (93.1%) Male
	2 (3.4%) Female
	2 (3.4%) Unknown
Location of Shooting	12 (20.7%) Retail
	11 (19%) Bar
	10 (17.2%) Workplace
	8 (13.8%) Other
	4 (6.9%) School
	4 (6.9%) University
	4 (6.9%) Religious
	4 (6%) Outdoors
	2 (3.5%) Civic Place
Age of Shooter at Time of Shooting	<i>M</i> = 33.52, <i>SD</i> = 11.63
Number Killed	<i>M</i> = 9.17, <i>SD</i> = 10.05

Year Shooting Occurred	5 (8.6%) 2010
	4 (6.9%) 2011
	6 (10.3%) 2012
	5 (8.6%) 2013
	3 (5.2%) 2014
	6 (10.3%) 2015
	5 (8.6%) 2016
	7 (12.1%) 2017
	9 (15.5%) 2018
	8 (12.8%) 2019

Note. Two shootings had multiple offenders (the San Bernardino Shooting and the Wilkinsburg Shooting). In these cases, both shooters are counted separately in Table 1. The complete mass shooting database used in Study 1 is available at: https://www.theviolenceproject.org/mass-shooter-database/.

Television News Coverage

I used the *Television Explorer* API (Global Database of Events Language and Tone, 2020) to collect news coverage stored in the Internet Archive's *Television News Archive* (Internet Archive, 2020). The *Television Explorer* allows users to search the text of closed captioning from three major television networks (CNN, FOX, and MSNBC). It returns the number of 15 second clips per day which contain a requested search term, providing a measure of the volume of news coverage per day dedicated to a topic. The *Television News Archive* contains data starting on July 2nd, 2009. I collected coverage from January 1st, 2010 to January 1st, 2020, the first 10-year period for which the archive has complete data from all years. I used a discrete 10-year period because participants in subsequent studies were asked to make estimates about mass shooters that are compared to news coverage. I assumed it would be easier for participants to make estimates about a discrete time-period.

To identify the total amount of coverage each mass shooting received, I measured the amount of time each news network spent using the terms "mass shooting", "mass shooter", "terrorism", or "terrorist" in the seven days following each shooting. These search terms are similar to terms used by previous research to identify coverage of mass shootings (e.g. Jetter & Walker, 2018) with the addition of terms related to terrorism. Past research has found that terrorism is frequently mentioned when describing violence committed by Muslims (Betus et al., 2019), meaning that a measure of total coverage should include search terms related to terrorism to avoid missing coverage of Muslim mass shootings.

I also broke down the total coverage into coverage using terms related to mass shootings ("mass shooting", "mass shooter") and coverage using terms related to terrorism ("terrorism" or "terrorist"). To measure coverage of mental illness, I used the amount of time spent using terms "mental illness" or "mentally ill". Finally, I measured religion coverage by using the terms "Islam" and "Muslim" to measure coverage of Islam, and "Christian" and "Christianity" to measure coverage of Christianity.

I classified the political leaning of news networks based on the political views of their audience (Pew Research Center, 2020) and based on past research which used text-analytic methods to measure media bias (Holtzman et al., 2011). Both approaches indicate that Fox News is the most conservative network, MSNBC is the most liberal, and CNN falls in between the other two networks. To operationalize this political leaning in my data, I created variable ranging from -1 (most liberal; MSNBC) to 1 (most conservative, FOX News), with CNN occupying the midpoint (0).

Covariate Justification

I selected the covariates for the statistical analysis of news coverage using a causal justification approach (Pearl & Mackenzie, 2018; Wysocki et al., 2012). Specifically, I controlled for the number of days since the shooting occurred, the location of the shooting, and the year the shooting occurred. Past research has found that these factors explain a significant amount of the variance in news coverage of mass shootings (Schildkraut et al., 2018; Silva, 2019), meaning controlling for them will improve the precision of estimates. I did not control for a variable if I believed it could mediate the relationship between shooter religion and news coverage, as doing so would bias the estimate of the relationship between religion and media coverage (Pearl & Mackenzie, 2018). For example, I did not control for whether a shooter was classified as having a terrorism motive. Past research indicates that Muslim perpetrators are more likely to be classified as terrorists than otherwise similar perpetrators who are not Muslim (Nagar, 2010). If this classification is the reason why Muslims receive more terrorism related media coverage, then controlling for this mediating variable would mask the relationship between shooter religion and amount of terrorism coverage.

Similarly, I did not control for a variable if I believed it could serve as a proxy for shooter religion, as doing so would attenuate the estimate of the relationship between religion and media coverage (Pearl

& Mackenzie, 2018). For example, I did not control for perpetrator race, as all but one of the Muslim shooters in my dataset are middle eastern, making race a proxy for religion in my analysis.

Results

Descriptive Analyses of Total Coverage

On the average day within the data, CNN spent 5.5 minutes (SD = 8.56) covering mass shootings, MSNBC spent 4.07 minutes (SD = 7.58), and Fox spent 7.59 minutes (SD = 9.75; see Figure 1). Coverage of mass shootings ranged from 0 minutes (561 days) to 95.5 minutes (CNN on December 4th, 2015, following the San Bernardino shooting).

Figure 1

Television Coverage of Mass Shootings between 2010 and 2020



The average daily coverage following a mass shooting is shown in Figure 2. Coverage peaks the day after a mass shooting, then declines for the next week. This pattern of coverage exists across all three stations.

Figure 2

Average Coverage in the 14 Days Following a Shooting





Do Muslim Mass Shooters Get More Coverage?

To simplify analyses and increase sample size per religious group, I coded the religion variable into three categories, Muslim (n = 4), Christian (n = 9), and all other shooters (n = 44). Using the Imertest package (Kuznetsova et al., 2017) in R (R Core Team, 2019), I used a linear mixed-effect model to estimate minutes of coverage per day as a function of the number of days since the most recent shooting, fatalities from the most recent shooting, religion of the most recent shooter, year of shooting, political lean of the network, and the interaction between political lean and shooter religion. The intercept was allowed to vary across shootings.

This model revealed that with seven days of a mass shooting, Muslim mass shooters received significantly more media coverage (see Table 2). This effect interacted with political lean, such that more conservative networks provided more coverage of Muslim shooters relative to more liberal networks.

Table 2

Estimated Minutes of Coverage per Day (Seven Days After a Mass Shooting)

Fixed Effects (Intercept, slopes)	В	(SE)	df	t	р
Intercept	-320.73	923.71	43.19	-0.35	.730
Days from most recent shooting	-1.03	0.13	1100.31	-8.02	< .001

Year0.180.4643.190.39.698Location: University3.486.9242.960.50.618Location: Civic-4.459.0143.03-0.49.624Location: Religious0.206.7442.920.03.976Location: Retail-2.135.6543.47-0.38.708Location: Bar5.415.6442.960.96.342Location: Workplace4.305.9242.950.73.471Location: Outdoors9.586.8142.931.41.167Location: Other4.466.4242.980.70.491Network Political Lean-4.991.161098.25-4.29<.001
Location: University3.486.9242.960.50.618Location: Civic-4.459.0143.03-0.49.624Location: Religious0.206.7442.920.03.976Location: Retail-2.135.6543.47-0.38.708Location: Bar5.415.6442.960.96.342Location: Workplace4.305.9242.950.73.471Location: Outdoors9.586.8142.931.41.167Location: Other4.466.4242.980.70.491Network Political Lean-4.991.161098.25-4.29<.001
Location: Civic-4.459.0143.03-0.49.624Location: Religious0.206.7442.920.03.976Location: Retail-2.135.6543.47-0.38.708Location: Bar5.415.6442.960.96.342Location: Workplace4.305.9242.950.73.471Location: Outdoors9.586.8142.931.41.167Location: Other4.466.4242.980.70.491Network Political Lean-4.991.161098.25-4.29<.001
Location: Religious0.206.7442.920.03.976Location: Retail-2.135.6543.47-0.38.708Location: Bar5.415.6442.960.96.342Location: Workplace4.305.9242.950.73.471Location: Outdoors9.586.8142.931.41.167Location: Other4.466.4242.980.70.491Network Political Lean-4.991.161098.25-4.29<.001
Location: Retail-2.135.6543.47-0.38.708Location: Bar5.415.6442.960.96.342Location: Workplace4.305.9242.950.73.471Location: Outdoors9.586.8142.931.41.167Location: Other4.466.4242.980.70.491Network Political Lean-4.991.161098.25-4.29<.001
Location: Bar5.415.6442.960.96.342Location: Workplace4.305.9242.950.73.471Location: Outdoors9.586.8142.931.41.167Location: Other4.466.4242.980.70.491Network Political Lean-4.991.161098.25-4.29<.001
Location: Workplace4.305.9242.950.73.471Location: Outdoors9.586.8142.931.41.167Location: Other4.466.4242.980.70.491Network Political Lean-4.991.161098.25-4.29<.001
Location: Outdoors9.586.8142.931.41.167Location: Other4.466.4242.980.70.491Network Political Lean-4.991.161098.25-4.29<.001
Location: Other 4.46 6.42 42.98 0.70 .491 Network Political Lean -4.99 1.16 1098.25 -4.29 <.001
Network Political Lean -4.99 1.16 1098.25 -4.29 < .001
Other Religion (vs Muslim) -31.94 6.14 60.77 -5.20 < .001
Christian (vs Muslim) -32.37 7.34 58.88 4.41 < .001
Political Lean * Other Religion (vs Muslim) 3.53 1.22 1098.25 2.90 .004
Political Lean * Christian (vs Muslim) 5.69 1.40 1098.25 4.07 < .001

Random effects	Variance	SD
Intercept (Shooting)	85.22	9.23
Residual	75.89	8.71

Note. B refers to an unstandardized Beta coefficient. Network political lean ranges from -1 (most liberal;

MSNBC) to 1 (most conservative; Fox News). Muslim is the reference category for the religion variable.

School (K-12) is the reference category for the location variable.

A robustness check indicated that these effects persisted when using data from 14 days after the

shooting (see Table 3).

Table 3

Estimated Minutes of Coverage per Day (14 Days After a Mass Shooting)

Fixed Effects (Intercept, slop	es)	В	(SE)	Df	t	р
Intercept		-103.23	618.51	43.14	-0.17	.868
Days from most recent shoo	ting	-0.61	0.04	2219.11	-13.8	< .001
Fatalities		0.11	0.10	44.06	1.11	.272
Year		0.07	0.31	43.13	0.22	.826
Location: University		3.46	4.63	42.77	0.75	.459
Location: Civic		-3.99	6.03	42.84	-0.66	.511
Location: Religious		0.24	4.51	43.09	0.05	.958
Location: Retail		-1.26	3.79	43.59	-0.33	.741
Location: Bar		3.51	3.77	42.80	0.93	.357
Location: Workplace		3.22	3.96	42.82	0.81	.421
Location: Outdoors		9.96	4.55	42.72	2.19	.034
Location: Other		5.12	4.29	42.82	1.19	.240
Network Political Lean		-4.54	0.80	2214.33	-5.69	< .001
Other Religion (vs Muslim)		-24.33	4.13	61.61	-5.90	< .001
Christian (vs Muslim)		-24.15	4.93	59.66	-4.90	< .001
Political Lean * Other Religio	on (vs Muslim)	3.16	0.84	2214.33	3.78	< .001
Political Lean * Christian (vs	Muslim)	4.66	0.96	2214.33	4.84	< .001
Random effects	Variance		SD			
Intercept (Shooting)	37.96		6.16	6		
Residual	71.35		8.45	5		

Note. B refers to an unstandardized Beta coefficient. Network political lean ranges from -1 (most liberal;

MSNBC) to 1 (most conservative; Fox News). Muslim is the reference category for the religion variable.

School (K-12) is the reference category for the location variable.

Similarly, the effects persisted when I excluded shootings (n = 4) that occurred at the same time

as other shootings or newsworthy terrorist attacks outside of the United States (e.g. the 2015 Paris

attacks; See Table 4).

Table 4

Estimated Minutes of Coverage per Day	(Excluding Four Mass Shootings)
---------------------------------------	---------------------------------

Fixed Effects (Intercept, slopes)		В	(SE)	Df	t	p
Intercept		135.19	742.15	39.01	0.18	.86
Days from most recent shooting		-0.95	0.12	1036	-7.95	< .001
Fatalities		0.32	0.13	39	2.46	.02
Year		-0.05	0.37	39.01	-0.13	.90
Location: University		3.29	5.34	39	0.62	.54
Location: Civic		-3.82	7.00	39	-0.55	.59
Location: Religious		0.94	5.20	39	0.18	.86
Location: Retail		-1.58	4.46	39	-0.35	.73
Location: Bar		3.01	4.44	39	0.68	.50
Location: Workplace		4.55	4.56	39	1.00	.32
Location: Outdoors		-0.20	6.83	39	-0.03	.98
Location: Other		4.39	4.96	39	0.88	.38
Network Political Lean		-4.99	1.05	1036	-4.74	< .001
Other Religion (vs Muslim)		-30.37	5.00	59.96	-6.07	< .001
Christian (vs Muslim)		-32.54	5.89	60.93	-5.53	< .001
Political Lean * Other Religion (vs Muslim)		3.10	1.10	1036	2.81	.01
Political Lean * Christian (vs Muslim)		5.02	1.32	1036	3.80	< .001
Dondom offente	Verience		00			
Random enects	variance		50			

Random enects	Valiance	50	
Intercept (Shooting)	49.65	7.05	
Residual	62.07	7.88	

Note. B refers to an unstandardized Beta coefficient. Network political lean ranges from -1 (most liberal;

MSNBC) to 1 (most conservative; Fox News). Muslim is the reference category for the religion variable.

School (K-12) is the reference category for the location variable. This analysis excludes the following four

mass shootings: the Palestine, Texas shooting on 2015/11/14 (concurrent with the Paris terror attack on

2015/11/13-14), the Dallas, Texas shooting on 2016/07/07 (concurrent with the Iraq mausoleum attack on

2016/07/07), the El Paso, Texas shooting on 2019/8/3 (concurrent with the Dayton shooting on 2019/8/4),

and the Dayton, Ohio shooting on 2019/8/4 (concurrent with the El Paso shooting on 2019/8/3)

In addition to analyzing the networks' political lean, I also ran a model (with the same covariates as earlier) comparing Fox News to CNN and MSNBC (see Figure 3 and Table 5). This analysis revealed that the increase in coverage for Muslim shooters was significantly larger for Fox News than for MSNBC. Fox News also spent more time covering Muslim shooters than CNN, although this difference was not statistically significant. Additionally, a model comparing MSNBC to the other networks revealed that CNN spent significantly more time covering Muslim shooters than MSNBC (CNN vs MSNBC * Christian vs Muslim: B = -7.33, p = .009; CNN vs MSNBC * Other religion vs Muslim: B = -6.06, p = .013).

Figure 3





Note. Lines depict the predicted values from a linear mixed-effects model estimating the amount of coverage networks allocated to shooters of different religions, controlling for the number of fatalities in the shooting, and year the shooting occurred.

Table 5

Parameter Estimates from Model Comparing Each News Network

Fixed Effects (Intercept, slopes)		В	(SE)	Df	t	р
Intercept		-326.33	923.71	43.09	-0.35	.726
Days from most recent shooting		-1.03	0.13	1097.31	-8.01	< .001
Fatalities		0.21	0.15	43.81	1.43	.158
Year		0.18	0.46	43.09	0.39	.698
Location: University		3.48	6.92	42.96	0.50	.612
Location: Civic		-4.45	9.01	43.03	-0.49	.624
Location: Religious		0.20	6.74	42.92	0.03	.977
Location: Retail		-2.13	5.65	43.47	-0.38	.708
Location: Bar		5.41	5.64	42.96	0.96	.342
Location: Workplace		4.30	5.92	42.95	0.73	.471
Location: Outdoors		9.58	6.81	42.93	1.41	.167
Location: Other		4.46	6.42	42.98	0.70	.491
CNN (vs Fox)		-3.13	2.33	1095.25	-1.35	.179
MSNBC (vs Fox)		-9.98	2.33	1095.25	-4.29	<.001
Christian (vs Muslim)		-26.13	6.98	48.09	-3.74	<.001
Other Religion (vs Muslim)		-27.57	4.81	48.74	-4.75	<.001
CNN (vs Fox) *Christian (vs Muslim)		4.06	2.80	1095.25	1.45	.147
MSNBC (vs Fox) *Christian (vs Muslim)		11.39	2.80	1095.25	1.45	< .001
CNN (vs Fox) * Other Religion (vs Muslim)		0.99	2.44	1095.25	0.41	.683
MSNBC (vs Fox) * Other Religion (vs Muslim)		7.05	2.44	1095.25	2.89	.004
Random effects	Variance		SD			
Intercept (Shooting)	85.22	9.23				
Residual	75.89		8.71			

Note. B refers to an unstandardized Beta coefficient. Fox news is the reference category for the news station variable. Muslim is the reference category for the religion variable. School (K-12) is the reference category for the location variable.

Next, I split the total coverage of Muslim mass shooters into the time networks spent using words related to terrorism (i.e. using the terms "terrorist" or "terrorism") and the time spent using other words related to mass shootings (terms: "mass shooting" or "mass shooter"). Terrorism language was used more often in the week following a mass shooting (M = 8.00 minutes per day, SD = 13.17) than other words related to mass shootings (M = 1.67 minutes per day, SD = 4.06). Additionally, a statistical model with the same covariates as the total coverage model revealed that Muslim mass shooters received more coverage using terrorism language (Christian vs Muslim: B = -33.34, p < .001; Other Religion vs Muslim: B = -33.48, p < .001; Network lean * Other Religion vs Muslim: B = 4.44, p < .001). In contrast, a similar analysis did not find evidence that use of mass shooting language differed across Muslim and

non-Muslim shooters (Christian vs Muslim: B = 0.92, p = .591; Other Religion vs Muslim: B = 1.37, p = .343). This finding was qualified by a significant interaction with political lean, whereby more conservative news networks used *less* mass shooting language following Muslim mass shootings (Network lean * Christian vs Muslim: B = -1.08, p = .029; Network lean * Other Religion vs Muslim: B = -1.00, p = .020). This indicates that more conservative news networks shift the content of their coverage when a mass shooter is Muslim, spending more time using words related to terrorism and less time using words related to mass shootings. The increase in time spent discussing terrorism is larger than the decrease in time using mass shooting words, leading to an overall increase in the amount of coverage Muslim shooters receive. In sum, I find that Muslim mass shooters receive more media coverage than non-Muslim shooters, an effect which is larger for more conservative news networks and is the result of an increase in terrorism language, rather than other mass shooting language.

Content Differences Between Muslim and Non-Muslim Mass Shooters

I also compared the time spent discussing the shooters' religion following a mass shooting. News networks spent more time discussing Islam (using the terms "Islam" or "Muslim") following mass shootings with Muslim perpetrators than they did following mass shootings with Christian perpetrators (B = -17.72, p < .001) or following shootings with perpetrators of other religious affiliations (B = -17.33, p < .001). These effects were larger for more conservative news networks (Network lean * Christian vs Muslim: B = 2.37, p = .012; Network lean * Other Religion vs Muslim: B = 1.74, p = .035).

In contrast, networks did not spend more time discussing Christianity (terms: "Christian" or "Christianity") following mass shootings with Christian perpetrators than they did following mass shootings with Muslim perpetrators (B = -0.46, p = 0.597) or shootings with perpetrators of other religious affiliations (B = 0.15, p = .837), nor did any interaction with network political lean emerge (p's > .598).

Lastly, I also tested whether media coverage spends more time covering mental illness (terms: "mental illness" or "mentally ill") following Muslim mass shooters. For this analysis, I added a covariate measuring each shooters' mental health into the model. To simplify output and increase sample size per group, I coded the Violence Project's information about mental illness into three categories: mass shooters who had been diagnosed with a mental illness (n = 23), mass shooters with signs of mental illness but no diagnosis (n = 13), and mass shooters with no signs of mental illness (n = 19).

This analysis revealed that shooters who had a mental illness diagnosis received significantly

more mental illness coverage (see Table 6). However, I did not find that mental illness coverage differed

between Muslim and non-Muslim shooters, nor did this finding interact with the political lean of a news

network.

Table 6

Residual

Estimated Minutes of Mental Illness Coverage per Day (Seven Days After a Mass Shooting)

Fixed Effects (Intercept, slopes)		В	(SE)	df	t	р
Intercept		-151.61	158.93	40.24	-0.95	.346
Days from most recent shooting		-0.08	0.03	1081	-2.97	.003
Fatalities		0.04	0.02	41.43	1.78	.083
Year		0.08	0.08	40.24	0.96	.343
Location: University		1.89	1.17	40.13	-1.61	.114
Location: Civic		-2.13	1.46	40.04	-1.47	.151
Location: Religious		-2.54	1.09	39.85	-2.33	.025
Location: Retail		-2.12	0.92	40.76	-2.30	.027
Location: Bar		-2.19	0.93	40.00	-2.34	.024
Location: Workplace		-1.92	0.98	39.97	-1.97	.056
Location: Outdoors		-4.30	1.12	39.85	-3.84	< .001
Location: Other		-1.65	1.22	40.16	-1.36	.183
Mental Illness Diagnosis (vs No Symptoms of		2.26	0.57	40.41	3.98	< .001
Mental Illness)						
Symptoms of Mental Illness (vs No Symptoms of		-0.22	0.64	40.63	-0.34	.737
Mental Illness)						
Network Political Lean		0.25	0.24	1078.33	1.05	.293
Other Religion (vs Muslim)		1.50	1.04	68.38	1.43	.156
Christian (vs Muslim)		1.27	1.25	64.93	1.02	.314
Political Lean * Other Religion (vs Muslim)		-0.29	0.25	1078.33	-1.15	.252
Political Lean * Christian (vs Muslim)		-0.36	0.29	1078.33	-1.25	.211
Random effects	Variance		SD			
Intercept (Shooting)	2.16		1.47	7		

Note. B refers to an unstandardized Beta coefficient. Network political lean ranges from -1 (most liberal;

1.81

3.27

MSNBC) to 1 (most conservative; Fox News). Muslim is the reference category for the religion variable.

School (K-12) is the reference category for the location variable. No symptoms of mental illness is the

reference category for the mental illness variable.

As a robustness check, I found similar results when comparing Muslim and non-Muslim shooters when mental health was not included as a covariate in the model. Specifically, this model did not find evidence that mental illness was less likely to be mentioned for Muslim shooters than for Christian shooters (B = 2.04, p = .154) or for shooters of other religious affiliations (B = 1.15, p = .335), nor did I
find evidence for an interaction with network political lean (p's > .207). Thus, despite speculation that coverage is less likely to discuss mental illness when a shooter is Muslim (Butler, 2015), I did not find evidence that this is the case.

Discussion

Study 1 demonstrated that television news networks spent more time covering mass shootings with Muslim perpetrators. Although this effect occurred for all news networks in Study 1 (Fox News, CNN, and MSNBC), it was larger for more the politically conservative network (e.g. Fox News) and smaller for the more liberal network (e.g. MSNBC). Study 1 also found that when more conservative networks cover mass shootings with Muslim perpetrators, they shift from using language about mass shootings to using language related to terrorism.

I do not find evidence that Muslim mass shooters receive less coverage related to mental illness than non-Muslim mass shooters. Interpreting null findings can be difficult, and an absence of evidence for a difference in mental illness coverage between Muslim and non-Muslim shooters does not prove that no such difference exists. However, it is notable that my findings are consistent with past research which has also failed to find differences in mental illness coverage between Muslim and non-Muslim shooters (Betus et al., 2019). Furthermore, in contrast to the null effect of shooter religion, I did find that mass shooters with a mental health diagnosis received more mental illness coverage. This indicates that the words I used to measure news coverage of mental illness are appropriate, as they detect differences in how mental illness is discussed for shooters with a documented history of mental illness.

However, a limitation of my approach is that the Television Explorer API restricts searches to keywords and does not provide a complete transcript of news coverage. As a result, Study 1 only measured the total amount of time news coverage spends talking about mental illness and does not measure how mental illness is discussed. It is possible that coverage of non-Muslim shooters frames the discussion of mental illness by talking about how the shooter probably *was* mentally ill, while coverage of Muslim shooters discusses evidence that the shooter probably *was not* mentally ill. Future research should test for a bias in how broadcast media discuss mental illness by analyzing the complete text of broadcast transcripts.

How Does Media Coverage Affect Public Attitudes Towards Muslims?

Having demonstrated that Muslim mass shooters are covered differently than shooters of other religions, the remainder of this dissertation examines how this coverage affects public attitudes towards Muslims. I start by examining whether media coverage can affect overall evaluations of Muslims as a group. To test this, Study 2 tested whether informing people about a Muslim (vs non-Muslim) mass shooter increases negative attitudes towards Muslims.

In addition to overall evaluations of Muslims, news coverage could also affect more specific beliefs about Muslims. Because news media are primary source of information about mass shootings for members of the public (Schildkraut & Elsass, 2016), the increased media coverage Muslim shooters receive could cause the public to overestimate the proportion of mass shootings with Muslim perpetrators. That is, because Muslim mass shooters receive a disproportion amount of the news coverage allocated to mass shootings, the public may believe that Muslims are responsible for a greater share of mass shootings than is actually the case. If the public does overestimate the proportion of mass shootings which specifically target Muslims, this could lead the public to believe that that security policies which specifically target Muslims (e.g. extra screening for Muslims at airports) will be an effective way to prevent mass shootings. Studies 3 -6 will test whether news coverage affects perceptions of the percentage of mass shootings committed by Muslims, and whether these perceptions affect support for anti-Muslim policies.

STUDY 2: Does Exposure to a Muslim Mass Shooter Increase Prejudice Towards Muslims?

Study 1 demonstrated that Muslim mass shooters received more news coverage than non-Muslim shooters. In Study 2, I examine whether this coverage affects prejudice towards Muslims.

Why might news coverage increase prejudice? Psychologists have argued that news coverage can serve to prime different stereotypes, which can then lead the stereotyped group to be evaluated more negatively. According to spreading activation theory, information is stored in memory in an interrelated network of nodes, with each node representing a concept or schema (Collins & Loftus, 1975). When a node is activated by thinking about a concept, activation spreads through the network to other related nodes. The activation of these related nodes makes them more easily accessible for a brief period of time, increasing the extent to which they influence judgements and behaviors (Roskos-Ewoldsen et al., 2007). Additionally, repeatedly activating two associated nodes is argued to strengthen the association between them (Sherman et al., 2005). Researchers have argued that this process can lead media coverage to change attitudes, such as evaluations of racial minorities (Doyen et al., 2014). For example, news coverage which portrays African Americans as criminal perpetrators is argued to activate the node for African Americans and the node for crime, strengthening negative associations with African Americans (Dixon & Maddox, 2005).

As would be predicted by spreading activation theory, academic researchers and members of the media frequently assume that media coverage which portrays Muslims as violent perpetrators increases prejudice towards Muslims (Ogan et al., 2014; Rane et al., 2014; Shaheen, 2003; Wadley, 2019). Surprisingly, despite this common assumption, there is relatively little research examining whether news coverage can increase prejudice towards Muslims. Even more surprisingly, the research which does exist does not find evidence that this is the case.

Although negative views of Muslims are correlated with overall levels of media exposure (Shaver et al., 2017) and with exposure to media coverage which portrays Muslims negatively (Saleem et al., 2017), these correlations could easily be the result of prejudiced individuals seeking out media coverage consistent with their views. Research which attempts to measure the causal impact of news coverage on attitudes towards Muslims has done so in two main ways.

One way in which research has attempted to measure the effects of news coverage is by comparing prejudice towards Muslims before and after major news events involving acts of mass violence committed by Muslims. This research has not found evidence that prejudice towards Muslims increased following a number of different events, including the 2015 Paris terror attacks (Boydstun et al., 2018), the 2015 San Bernardino mass shooting (Boydstun et al., 2018), and the 2016 Orlando mass shooting (Perry, 2016). Additionally, this lack of change is consistent across both Democrats and Republicans, meaning there is no evidence that attacks with Muslim perpetrators polarize partisans' views of Muslims (Boydstun et al., 2018).

Perhaps most remarkably, attitudes towards Muslims also did not change following the 9-11 terrorist attacks. That is, even though 9-11 was a major geopolitical event that was followed by the largest increase in presidential approval in US history (Hetherington & Nelson, 2003), an increased trust in government (Ford et al., 2003), and an increase in stress and anxiety (Eisenberg & Silver, 2011), Americans' attitudes towards Muslims did not become more following 9-11 (Panagopoulos, 2006). If anything, the percentage of Americans' reporting a favorable view of Muslims increased slightly from 45% before 9-11 to 59% two months following 9-11 (although a year later attitudes returned to pre-attack levels; Panagopoulos, 2006).

However, a limitation of this research is that measuring attitudes before and after a major event does not specifically isolate the effect of the event in question. Other events, which happened at a similar time, could also influence attitudes. For instance, in the aftermath of 9-11 attacks, President Bush condemned discrimination against Muslims and described Islam as a peaceful religion (Office of the Press Secretary, 2001). This positive response from the American government might have counteracted an increase in negative attitudes towards Muslims that might have otherwise occurred, which could explain why Americans' attitudes towards Muslims did not become more negative. Supporting the idea that the governments' response may have shaped the public reaction to 9-11, surveys administered on 9-11 indicate that the increase in Bush's approval rating did not occur on the same morning as the attacks, but instead occurred after a public address he made later in the day (Schubert et al., 2002).

To avoid these issues, a second line of research examining news coverage and prejudice towards Muslims has used laboratory experiments which control the content of the news coverage

participants are exposed to. These experimental studies have also failed to find evidence that media coverage of Muslim perpetrators increases prejudice towards Muslims. For example, in one study on this topic, Saleem et al. (2017) presented participants with either a news clip describing Muslims plotting to commit a terrorist attack, no video clip, or one of several control videos about Muslims which did not involve terrorism. Although Saleem et al., (2017) do not report a statistical test directly comparing individual conditions, based on the condition means and standard errors, exposure to the terrorist attack video did not significantly change perceptions of Muslims as aggressive, support for civil restrictions on Muslim Americans, or support for military actions in Muslim countries (relative to participants who did not watch a video). Similarly, Das et al. (2009) randomly assigned participants to view news coverage of Islamic terrorism, or control news coverage. In two of three studies, Das et al. (2009) did not find evidence that explicit or implicit attitudes towards Muslims differed between conditions.

Notably, both of these experimental studies have only a limited sample size (Das et al.: n's = 25-45 per condition, Saleem et al.: n = 100 per condition) meaning they do not have the statistical power to detect anything smaller that a medium effect size (i.e. d = 0.5). In Study 2, I test whether exposure to news coverage of mass shootings affects attitudes by reanalyzing data from five experiments with a combined sample of over 3000 participants. Thus, Study 2 represents the largest experimental test of the effects of news coverage on prejudice towards Muslims to date.

Research Questions

Study 2 tested whether encountering news coverage of a Muslim mass shooter increased negative attitudes towards Muslims. To do this, I reanalyzed data from a series of experiments which exposed participants to a mass shooting with a Muslim or a non-Muslim perpetrator, and subsequently measured attitudes towards Muslims. I did not have a prediction about whether exposure to a Muslim perpetrator would increase negative attitudes towards Muslims.

To test whether media coverage of Muslim perpetrators affects liberals and conservatives differently, I also tested for an interaction with participants' political ideology. Again, I did not have a prediction about whether this interaction would occur.

Methods

To reduce publication bias, I restricted my analysis to data from studies which I have conducted. Past research has found that null findings are less likely to be published (Meko et al., 2014), especially when research examines controversial topics like racial bias (Zigerell, 2018). By restricting the analysis to research data which I collected, I can be certain that the observed result is not affected any bias in the publication process. Additionally, analyzing my own research means I have access to the raw data from all the included studies, allowing the data to be analyzed using integrative data analysis (Curran & Hussong, 2009). Integrative data analysis is similar to a meta-analysis in that it tests for an overall effect across multiple studies. However, rather than combining aggregate effect sizes or summary statistics, integrative data analysis uses the raw data from each study to test for an effect. This increases statistical power and allows researchers to test participant-level research questions, such as whether exposure to a Muslim mass shooter has a different effect on liberal and conservative participants.

I identified five studies from my past research which are appropriate for testing the effect of media coverage on negative attitudes towards Muslims. These studies were originally conducted for a separate project examining whether Muslim mass shooters are perceived differently than non-Muslim shooters (Mercier et al., 2018). In this project, participants in several experiments were randomly assigned to read about either a Muslim or non-Muslim mass shooter, and subsequently completed questions about the shooting. Additionally, because the project tested whether people with positive and negative attitudes towards Muslims was included near the end of every study. Thus, although these studies were not intentionally designed to read about a Muslim or non-Muslim mass shooter and subsequently measured attitudes towards Muslims, making them an appropriate test of this research question.

The exact methodology used was different in each experiment (see Table 7 for a brief description). For example, in Study 1 from Mercier et al., (2018), participants read about a real mass shooting that occurred in the United States, while in Study 2 from Mercier et al., (2018) participants read an ostensibly real CNN article describing a mass shooting in France.

All studies were conducted on Amazon's Mechanical Turk between May 2016 and March 2018. A short attention check was included in each study (e.g. Because you're paying attention to this survey, please select 'Tends to be true' for this question."). Participants who failed the attention check were excluded from analysis. All studies included the same measures of negative attitudes towards Muslims and political identification, described below.

Measures

Negative Attitudes towards Muslims. Each study included a measure of negative attitudes

towards Muslims developed by past research (Altareb, 1997). Participants responded to 25 Likert type

items (e.g., "Muslims are friendly people") on a scale from 1 = "strongly disagree" to 5 = "strongly agree"

(see Table 7 for scale statistics).

Political Identification. Each study included a face-valid measure of political identification.

Participants were asked to indicate their political position on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 =

"Strongly Conservative" to 7 = "Strongly Liberal".

Table 7

Summary of Past Studies Analyzed in Study 2

					Attitudes Towards Muslims by Condition		
Study	Description	Date	N	α	Muslim M (±	Non-Muslim M (± SD)	
		collected			SD)		
Mercier	Participants read a	August	430	.96	2.73 (± 0.74)	2.74 (± 0.80)	
Norris and	description of one of eight	28-29,					
Shariff	recent mass shooters in the	2016					
(2018); Study	United States (four of which						
1	were Muslim). The						
	description included the						
	name of the shooter, date						
	of shooting, location, and						
	number of casualties.						
Mercier	Participants were shown an	May 18-	168	.96	2.86 (±0.64)	2.84 (± 0.64)	
Norris and	ostensibly real news article	19, 2016					
Shariff	describing a recent mass						
(2018); Study	shooting in France. The						
2	shooter in the article was						
	either described as either						
	"Muhammed Ebrahim", a						
	"devout Muslim", or "Adrian						
	Blanc", a "devout Christian".						
Mercier	Participants were shown an	November	507	.96	2.88 (±0.89)	2.68 (± 0.81)	
Norris and	ostensibly real news article	10-14,					
Shariff	describing a recent mass	2017					
(2018); Study	shooting in France. The						
3	shooter was either						

	described as Muslim, Christian, or no information about the shooter was provided.					
Mercier Norris and Shariff (2018); Study 4	Participants read about a hypothetical shooting that "was created based on the details of several real shootings which actually occurred in the United States." The shooter was described as either Muslim or Christian. The shooter was also described as having a past history of mental illness	March 12- 14, 2018	1,538	.96	2.55 (± 0.75)	2.60 (± 0.78)
Mercier and Shariff (unpublished)	Participants read about a hypothetical shooting that "was created based on the details of several real shootings which actually occurred in the United States." The shooter was described as either Muslim or Christian, and as either having or not having symptoms of mental illness	January 2- 3, 2017	688	.97	2.73 (±0.84)	2.56 (±0.83)

Note. N indicates the sample size after excluding participants who failed attention checks. The α column

indicates Cronbach's alpha for the measure of negative attitudes towards Muslims.

Results

I used the Imer package (Kuznetsova et al., 2017) in R (R Core Team, 2019) to fit a random intercept model to the data, with participants nested within studies. This model had negative attitudes towards Muslims as a dependent variable and condition (Muslim shooter vs Non-Muslim shooter) as the predictor variable. The effect of condition was not statistically significant (B = .05, p = .134, 95% CI [-.02, .12]) meaning I did not find evidence that encountering a Muslim mass shooter increased negative attitudes towards Muslims (see Figure 4). To determine whether this effect was different for liberals and conservatives, I tested for an interaction between political ideology and condition. This interaction was not statistically significant (B = .00, p = .898, 95% CI [-.03, .03]), meaning I did not find evidence that exposure to a Muslim mass shooter had a different effect for participants with different political views.

Figure 4

Effect of News Coverage by Study



Note. Circles indicate the point estimate for the increase in negative attitudes towards Muslims among participants who encountered a Muslim mass shooter relative to participants who encountered non-Muslim mass shooter, measured as a Cohen's *d*. Lines indicate 95% confidence intervals around each effect size.

Discussion

Across five studies and 3331 participants, I did not find evidence that reading about a Muslim mass shooter increases negative attitudes towards Muslims, relative to reading about a non-Muslim mass shooter. Additionally, the lack of a change in negative attitudes towards Muslims was consistent among both liberals and conservatives. These findings are consistent with past experimental research, and with research which has not found changes in attitudes towards Muslims following major acts of mass violence committed by Muslims. They are however, inconsistent with past research on media priming and spreading activation theory, and add to a growing number of studies which fail to find priming effects (Cesario, 2014; Chartier et al., 2020; Harris et al., 2013).

In Study 2, I analyzed the results of experiments which used self-report measures to assess negative attitudes towards Muslims. These studies did not include measures of unconscious negative associations with Muslims, such as the Implicit Association Test (Greenwald et al., 2002). Thus, while I do

not find evidence that news coverage makes explicit attitudes towards Muslims more negative, my results do not provide evidence about whether or not news coverage can increase implicit attitudes towards Muslims. Although one study (Das et al., 2009) has failed to find evidence that news reports of terrorism increase negative implicit associations with Muslims, this is an area which future research might choose to examine further.

Additionally, because I analyzed self-report measures, I cannot rule out the possibility that news coverage did cause an increase in negative attitudes towards Muslims, but participants the experiments I analyzed did not truthfully report this increase because of social desirability bias. However, while possible, I believe this explanation is unlikely. As with any socially unacceptable attitude, there are probably people who hold negative attitudes towards Muslims and are unwilling to admit to these attitudes when asked in surveys. This is likely true both before and after people encounter news coverage of a Muslim mass shooter. For social desirability bias mask an increase in negative attitudes. That is, in the experiments I analyze news coverage would have needed to increase negative attitudes towards Muslims, but only among people who are unwilling to truthfully report negative views of Muslims. It seems unlikely that news coverage would only affect this specific group of individuals, and not also affect participants who are willing to admit holding negative views of Muslims (in my studies, roughly half of the total sample).

The results of Study 2 findings suggest that attitudes towards Muslims are relatively fixed and difficult to change. In hindsight, this makes sense. Attitudes towards Muslims have played an important role in American politics since at least 9-11 and were a central issue in the political campaign of former president Donald Trump. Members of the public are almost certainly aware of past acts of mass violence committed by Muslims and have probably decided whether they believe these acts are caused by the teachings of the Islamic religion, or whether they are the isolated actions of a few unrepresentative individuals. Members of the public also have many other sources of information about Muslims that could influence their attitudes towards Muslims. For example, they may have personal relationships and interactions with people who are Muslim (Cooper, 2017; Savelkoul et al., 2011), or they may have seen media depictions of Muslim celebrities, such as professional athletes (Alrababah et al., 2019). My findings

suggest that, in the context of all the information participants have about Muslims, new information about one additional Muslim mass shooter is not enough to change attitudes towards Muslims.

Although Study 2 finds that general attitudes towards Muslims are resistant to change, more specific beliefs about Muslims, such as the extent to which they commit mass shootings, may be more malleable. In Studies 3-6, I test whether news coverage of Muslim mass shooters influences more specific beliefs, including perceptions of the extent to which mass shootings are committed by Muslims.

STUDY 3: Beliefs About the Frequency of Muslim Mass Shooters

Study 1 demonstrates that television news media spend a disproportionate amount of time covering Muslim mass shooters. Study 2 does not find that news coverage affects attitudes toward Muslims, suggesting that overall evaluations of Muslims may be difficult to change. In Study 3, I examine whether news coverage can change specific beliefs about the extent to which Muslims commit mass shootings.

Although there are likely many factors influencing public attitudes towards Muslims, beliefs about crime, especially rare forms of crime like mass violence, are primarily the result of news coverage (Schildkraut & Elsass, 2016). As a result, beliefs about mass shootings, and role Muslims play in committing them, may be easier to change than attitudes towards Muslims. In particular, the disproportionate volume of coverage allocated to Muslims shooters may cause the public to overestimate the extent to which mass shootings are committed by Muslims. If this is the case, this could cause the public to believe that policies aimed at preventing mass shootings will be more effective if they specifically target Muslims.

To test this, I asked participants in Study 3 to estimate the percentage of mass shooters who are Muslims. I compared these estimates to the actual percentage in the Violence Project database (Peterson & Densley, 2020) to determine whether participants overestimated the percentage of Muslim shooters. Additionally, I compared these estimates to the news channels that participants reported watching, and to their support for anti-Muslim policies.

I measured beliefs about the percentage of mass shooters who are Muslim, rather than the total number of Muslims shooters, because pilot data indicated that people are poor judges of the overall frequency of mass shootings. Specifically, in a pilot study conducted in 2019, I asked participants to estimate the number of mass shootings which occurred in the previous year. Estimates ranged from 0 to over 10,000. As a result, asking participants to estimate the total number of Muslim mass shooters would conflate perceptions of the total number of shootings with perceptions of the relative frequency with which Muslims commit mass shootings.

Hypotheses

I predicted that participants would overestimate the percentage of mass shooters between 2010 and 2020 who were Muslim. Additionally, I predicted that the amount of time participants spent watching Fox News, the most conservative network in my analysis, would be associated with increased overestimation of Muslim mass shooters. Finally, I predicted that estimates of the percentage of Muslim mass shooters would be positively correlated with support for anti-Muslim policies.

Methods

Participants

In Study 3, I targeted a level of precision where the estimates of the percentage of mass shooters in each group have a 2.5% margin of error (at α = .05). Assuming the estimates will have a standard deviation of 25% (roughly the standard deviation observed on pilot data from similar measures included in Mercier et al., 2018; Study 4) I used the formula $n = \frac{Z * sd}{moe^2}$ (Lohr, 2010) to calculate that 370 participants would be required. Based on past experience with MTurk, I assumed that roughly 10% of participants would fail a comprehension check. Thus, I made the target sample size 412 participants. Target sample size, measures, hypotheses, and analysis plan were pre-registered prior to data collection (

https://aspredicted.org/blind.php?x=9td5q2).

I recruited 413 participants through Prolific.co, seven (2%) of whom were excluded for failing to correctly answer more than one of three comprehension checks, leaving a final sample of 406. Participant demographics in Study 3 (and all remaining studies) are shown in Table 8.

Table 8

Study	Age (<i>M</i> ± SD)	Gender	Race	Religion	Religiosity (<i>M</i> ± SD)	Politics (<i>M</i> ± SD)
Study 3	30.07 (± 10.89)	45.8% Male 51.2% Female 2.2% Other 0.7% Prefer not to say	64% White 8.4% African American 13.8% Hispanic 15.8% East Asian 4.7% South or West Asian 1.5% Native American 0.2% Pacific Islander	40.1% Christian 1.7% Jewish 0.7% Muslim 4.9% Other Religion 9.9% Spiritual but not religious 7.6% Unaffiliated 15.8% Atheist 19% Agnostic	2.83 (± 1.93)	4.81 (± 1.67)

Demographic Information for Participants in Studies 3-6

Study 4	31.14	50.9% Male	67% White	34.1% Christian	2.70	5.07
	(± 12.06)	46.5%	8.5% African	2.5% Jewish	(± 1.89)	(± 1.58)
	· · · /	Female	American	1.1% Muslim	(/	(/
		2.2% Other	11.1% Hispanic	5.5% Other Religion		
		0.1% Prefer	15.3% East Asian	8.5% Spiritual but		
		not to sav	4.7% South or	not religious		
		,	West Asian	10.8% Unaffiliated		
			1.2% Native	16.6% Atheist		
			American	20.9% Agnostic		
			0.4% Pacific	3		
			Islander			
Study 5	32.62	47.2% Male	65.2% White	38.8% Christian	2.84	5.00
	(± 11.56)	50.9%	11.2% African	1.7% Jewish	(± 1.98)	(± 1.70)
		Female	American	1.8% Muslim		
		1.4% Other	11.7% Hispanic	4.3% Other Religion		
		0.4% Prefer	14.2% East Asian	9.4% Spiritual but		
		not to say	4.0% South or	not religious		
			West Asian	8.0% Unaffiliated		
			1.4% Native	19.3% Atheist		
			American	16.6% Agnostic		
			0.1% Pacific			
			Islander			
Study	38.15	55.5% Male	83.3% White	74.2% Christian	4.5	2.24
6A	(± 13.84)	44.5%	8.9% African	1.2% Jewish	(± 1.98)	(± 0.99)
		Female	American	1.1% Muslim		
			4.5% Hispanic	3.6% Other Religion		
			4.9% East Asian	4.6% Spiritual but		
			0.9% South or	not religious		
			West Asian	4.1% Unaffiliated		
			0.8% Native	5.3% Atheist		
			American	5.9% Agnostic		
			0.1% Pacific			
01	00.05				0.00	4.00
Study	33.25	50% Male		49.8% Unristian	3.39	4.22
6B	(± 12.45)	48.8%	8.7% African		(± 2.09)	(± 1.88)
		remaie	American	1.4% IVIUSIIM		
				Z.9% Uner Keligion		
		0.3% Preier	10.3% East Asian	7.4% Spinitual but		
		not to say	S.0% South of	9.4% Upoffiliated		
			0.8% Nativo	1/ 3% Athoist		
			Amorican	14.3% Agnostic		
1	-				1	1
			0.8% Pacific			
			0.8% Pacific			

Note. Politics was measures on a scale from 1 = "very conservative" to 7 = "very liberal". Religiosity was

measured on a scale from 1 = "Not at all religious" to 7 = "very religious".

Measures

Participants in Study 3 completed the measures below in the order they appear, then completed

several additional measures and demographics questions.

Perceptions of Mass Shooters. Participants were asked to estimate the percentage of mass shooters in the last 10 years who were Black, White, Hispanic, Christian, Muslim, and Mentally ill. Participants were given detailed instructions about the estimations, including the exact definition of a mass shooting from Study 1 (for full question text, see Appendix A). Following the instructions, participants indicated the percentage of mass shooters between 2010 and 2020 who were from each group (presented in random order) on a sliding scale from 0% to 100%.

News Consumption. Participants were asked to indicate how often they receive news from several different sources, including Fox News, CNN, and MSNBC. For each source, participants were given the following options: 1= "I never get news from this source", 2 = "I sometimes get news from this source", 3 = "I often get news from this source", 4 = "I get most of my news from this source."

Attitudes towards Muslims. I measured attitudes towards Muslims using a 25 item scale validated in past research (Altareb, 1997). Participants indicated the extent of their agreement with Likert type items about Muslims (e.g. "Muslims are friendly people") on a scale from 1 = "Strongly Disagree" to 5 = "Strongly Agree" (M = 2.25, SD = 0.70, α = 0.96). Items were coded as necessary so higher numbers indicate attitudes towards Muslims that are more negative.

Support for Anti-Muslim Policies. Participants indicated the extent which they support eight security policies which explicitly target Muslims (e.g. "Muslims should receive extra screening when passing though airport security"), on a scale from 1 = "Strongly Disagree" to 7 = "Strongly Agree" (see Appendix B for items). The policies were develop based on past survey data (Dunwoody & McFarland, 2018). Using a principal components analysis and Item Response Theory models, I eliminated 3 items which conveyed poor information, had poorly defined item characteristic curves, or did not load well into a single factor. Using the lavaan package in R (Rosseel, 2012), I fit a SEM model with one latent factor to the remain 5 items. This model was a good fit for the data (CFI = 97.7, RMSEA = 15.5, SRMR = 0.02), and had good reliability ($\alpha = 0.94$, M = 2.16, SD = 1.44). Thus, Study 3 and all future studies will use this 5-item version of the scale. Item reduction was preformed prior to testing study hypotheses.

Attention check. Participants completed an attention check adopted from Chmielewski and Kucker (2019). This method involves asking participants demographic questions and screening out those who provide highly improbable results. Participants were asked to indicate the number of children they

have in each of several 2-year age ranges. Prior to data collection, I intended to remove any participants who indicated they have more than 10 children or more than 4 children in the same 2-year age range will be removed, as less than 1% of the US population meets these criteria. However, no participants did so, so no one was removed.

English Language Comprehension Checks. Participants completed three questions designed to determine whether they can comprehend English. For example one question asked participants to identify the appropriate phrase in the sentence "Some foods, such as burgers and pizzas, _____ bad for my health", from the following options: "oughtn't to be", "can be", "must have", and "should have been". I excluded seven participants (1.7% of total sample) who failed more than one of these questions.

Demographics. Participants will complete a demographics measure, which will include measures of political affiliation, religious affiliation, religiosity, age, gender, and ethnicity.

Results

Data and analysis code for Study 3, and all remaining studies can be found on the Open Science Framework (https://osf.io/m2gez/?view_only=d2c4c8e85f5444348eadce18ab125f94). Consistent with my pre-registered analysis plans, in Studies 3-6 I use one-tailed hypothesis tests whenever I had a preregistered directional prediction. The use of one-tailed tests did not alter the statistical significance of any findings.

My main hypothesis was that participants would overestimate the percentage of mass shooters who are Muslim. Confirming this hypothesis, a one-sample t-test found that participants overestimated the percentage of mass shooters between 2010 and 2020 who were Muslim, relative to the percentage of Muslim shooters reported in the Violence Project's database of mass shootings (Database: 8.6%; Participant estimates: M = 16.48%, SD = 16.52%, t(397) = 9.49, p < .001; see Figure 5). As specified in my pre-registered analysis plan, because there was a significant skew in the estimated percentages, I also tested for overestimation using a non-parametric Wilcox signed-rank test. This analysis indicated that the median estimated percentage of Muslim shooters (Mdn = 10) was higher than the percentage reported by the Violence Project (V = 54618, p < .001).

Figure 5

Estimated Percentage of Mass Shooters who are Muslim by Study



Estimated Percentage of American Mass Shooters Between 2010-2020 who were Muslim

Note. Colored dots indicate individual data points. Within each condition, random noise has been added to the x-axis to increase the visibility of individual data points. Black dots indicate the mean estimate within each condition, with confidence bars indicating the 95% confidence interval around each mean. The dotted line indicates the percentage of mass shootings in the Violence Project's database of mass shootings (Peterson & Densley, 2020) with Muslim perpetrators between January 1st, 2010 and January 1st, 2020.

Next, I tested whether the magnitude of this overestimation would be associated with time spent watching FOX News, the television network that spent the most time covering Muslim shooters. As predicted, participants who watched greater amounts of Fox News overestimated the percentage of Muslim shooters by a greater amount (r = 0.34, p < .001). Furthermore, this relationship persisted when controlling for negative attitudes towards Muslims and political ideology (B = 4.27, p < .001).

Time spent watching CNN, the network which spent the second largest amount of time covering Muslim shooters, was also correlated with overestimation (r = 0.13, p = .009), although this correlation was significantly smaller than the correlation with watching Fox News (Meng, et al.'s test for difference in correlations; 41: z = 3.37, p < .001). The relationship between watching CNN and overestimation also persisted when controlling for negative attitudes towards Muslims and political attitudes (B = 3.41, p < .001).

Time spent watching MSNBC, the network which spent the least amount of time covering Muslim mass shooters, was not significantly associated with the degree which participants overestimated of the percentage of mass shooters who are Muslim (r = .07, p = .181). This (non-significant) correlation was significantly smaller than the correlation between watching Fox News and overestimation (z = 4.07, p < .001), but not significantly smaller than the correlation between watching CNN and overestimation (z = 1.13, p = .257).

Finally, my last hypothesis was that participants who overestimated the percentage of mass shooters who are Muslim would be more likely to support anti-Muslim security policies. As predicted, overestimation was correlated with increased support for anti-Muslim security policies (r = .41, p < .001). This relationship persisted when controlling for negative attitudes towards Muslims and political attitudes (B = 2.69, p = .003).

Discussion

Study 3 found that people overestimate the percentage of mass shooters who are Muslim. This overestimation was significantly associated with the frequency of watching Fox News, the most conservative network in my analysis, even when controlling for participants' attitudes towards Muslims and political ideology.

These results provide initial evidence that the disproportionate media coverage allocated to Muslim mass shooters leads people to overestimate their prevalence. However, the data in Study 3 are correlational, and do not necessarily indicate a causal link between media coverage and perceptions of Muslim mass shooters. To test for causal evidence, Study 4 used experimental methods.

STUDY 4: Effects of News Coverage of Mass Shootings with Muslim Perpetrators

The purpose of Study 4 was to test whether exposure to news coverage of a Muslim mass shooter causes people to believe that a greater percentage of mass shooters are Muslims. To do this, I randomly assigned participants to read a news article about a mass shooting with a Muslim perpetrator, a mass shooting with a Christian perpetrator, or to a control group with no article. I tested whether participants who read about the Muslim shooter would overestimate the percentage of Muslim shooters by a larger magnitude than participants in the other two conditions.

In addition, I also tested whether the effects of news coverage interacted with participants' attitudes towards Muslims. Past research has demonstrated a tendency for biased assimilation of knowledge, whereby people are more willing to accept information supporting their existing beliefs than information that conflicts with their beliefs (Ditto et al., 1998; Lord et al., 1979). For example, people uncritically accept information suggesting that they are healthy, while questioning or discounting information suggesting they are not (Ditto & Lopez, 1992). This research suggests that when people who are prejudiced towards Muslim are presented with media coverage of a Muslim who has committed an act of violence, they should be willing to accept this information, polarizing their initial beliefs about the extent to which violence is committed by Muslims. Conversely, when people with positive attitudes toward Muslims are presented with media coverage of a Muslim who has committed an act of violence, they should look for reasons to discount or ignore this information and resist updating their beliefs about the extent to which acts of violence are committed by Muslims. For example, they may view the coverage as biased or perceive the perpetrators as unrepresentative of Muslims as a group. Supporting the idea that prejudice can affect how interpret the actions of a Muslim perpetrator, past research has found that people with negative attitudes towards Muslims see Muslim mass shooters as less mentally ill than non-Muslim mass shooters (while those with positive attitudes do not show this difference; Mercier et al., 2018).

On the other hand, news consumers' responses to coverage of Muslims may not be influenced by their level of prejudice towards Muslims. Researchers have proposed that political beliefs are updated using a Bayesian learning process (Hill, 2017). According to this view, new information about a political topic is combined with one's prior beliefs and information. As a result, new information should produce a

small shift in beliefs in a uniform direction for everyone receiving it, regardless of initial views on the issue. This view would predict that news coverage of a Muslim perpetrator should cause a slight increase the extent to which people believe acts of violence are committed by Muslims, and this increase should occur regardless of an individual's initial levels of prejudice towards Muslims.

Hypotheses

I predicted that exposure to news coverage of a Muslim mass shooter would cause people to believe that a greater percentage of mass shooters are Muslims. I also tested whether this effect would interact with attitudes towards Muslims. Although past research has found that individuals with negative attitudes towards Muslims perceive the motivations of Muslim mass shooters differently that those with positive attitudes towards Muslims (Mercier et al., 2018), Study 4 focused on perceptions of the relative frequency of Muslim mass shootings, not perceptions of a shooter's motivation. Thus, I did not make a prediction about whether I would observe a significant interaction effect.

In addition, I tested several secondary research questions. Specifically, I tested whether exposure to news coverage of a Muslim mass shooter increases support for anti-Muslim policies, and whether this effect would interact with attitudes towards Muslims. I did not have a prediction about whether this would be the case. I also tested whether news coverage of a Christian mass shooter would cause participants to believe that a greater percentage of mass shooters are Christians, and whether this effect would interact with attitudes. Again, I did not have a prediction about whether this would be the case.

Methods

Participants

In Study 4, I considered the smallest effect size of interest to be a conventionally small effect (d = 0.2). Obtaining 90% power to detect an effect of d = 0.2 or larger using a one-tailed t-test with two experimental conditions requires 310 participants in each condition. Because Study 4 has three conditions, I targeted a sample size of 930. As the rate of failing comprehension checks in Study 3 was low (<2%), I did not consider it necessary to account for this in the sample size calculation for Study 4. Target sample size, measures, hypotheses, and analysis plan were pre-registered prior to data collection (https://aspredicted.org/blind.php?x=pd7fi7).

I recruited 937 participants through Prolific.co, 7 (0.7%) of which were excluded for failing more than one of three comprehension checks. Thus, my final sample was n = 930.

Procedure

Participants were randomly assigned to one of three conditions. In the *Muslim Shooter* condition, participants were shown an ostensibly real news article which appear to have been published on the website for the New York Times in 2014. The article described a mass shooting in California and was written to be similar to past news coverage of mass shootings. The article reported that the shooter, "Abdullah Haseeb", was a "devout Muslim who frequently attended religious services at a local mosque". In the *Christian Shooter* condition, participants read an article identical to the *Muslim Shooter* article, except for the description of the shooter's religion. The *Christian Shooter* article reported that the shooter was named "Micah Sullivan" and was a "devout Christian who frequently attended religious services at a local church." In the *Control* Condition, participants did not read a news article.

Measures

Participants completed the measures of perceptions of mass shooters, news consumption, negative attitudes towards Muslims (M = 2.27, SD = 0.68, $\alpha = 0.96$), and anti-Muslim policies (M = 2.29, SD = 1.44, $\alpha = 0.94$) from Study 3. After this, participants completed the following measures:

Feeling Thermometers. Participants were asked to indicate their feelings towards different groups on a sliding scale ranging from 0 to 100. Participants were told that: "A rating of zero degrees means you feel as cold and negative as possible. A rating of 100 degrees means you feel as warm and positive as possible. You would rate the group at 50 degrees if you don't feel particularly positive or negative toward the group." Participants completed this scale for both Muslims (M = 58.11, SD = 23.63) and Christians (M = 56.48, SD = 25.74).

English Comprehension Check. Participants completed the English comprehension checks from Study 3. I excluded 7 participants (0.7% of total sample) who failed more than one question.

Manipulation Check. Participants who read a news article (i.e. those in the *Muslim Shooter* and *Christian Shooter* conditions) completed a manipulation check asking them to recall the religion of the shooter in the article from a list of several possible options (Muslim, Christian, Hindu, Buddhist). An analysis of this manipulation check confirmed that the manipulation was effective, as 93% of participants

in both the *Muslim Shooter* and *Christian Shooter* conditions correctly identified the religion of the shooter in their condition. Excluding participants who did not correctly identify the religion of the shooter did not affect the statistical significance of the results.

Results

Consistent with my pre-registered predictions, independent samples t-tests demonstrated that participants who were told the mass shooter was Muslim believed a greater percentage of mass shooters between 2010-2020 were Muslim (M = 23.36, SD = 20.61, Mdn = 18.5), relative to participants who were told the shooter was a Christian, M = 16.05, SD = 16.28, Mdn = 10, t(578.97) = 4.87, p < .001, d = 0.39, 95% CI [0.23, 0.55], and relative to participants who did not read an article, M = 16.89, SD = 17.5, Mdn = 10, t(594.93) = 4.18, p < .001, d = 0.34, 95% CI [0.18, 0.50]. As in Study 3, because the estimated percentages were not normally distributed, these findings were confirmed using non-parametric Wilcoxon rank-sum tests (Muslim vs Christian: W = 35953, p < .001; Muslim vs control: W = 36938, p < .001).

I also tested whether these effects interacted with participants' attitudes towards Muslims. Relative to news coverage of the Christian shooter, news coverage of the Muslim shooter had a larger effect on participants with negative attitudes towards Muslims (B = 5.79, p = .004). However, when compared to the control condition, the effect of news coverage of the Muslim shooter did not depend on attitudes towards Muslims (B = 2.99, p = 0.145).

After testing for an interaction with attitudes towards Muslims, I also compared attitudes towards Muslims across conditions. Unexpectedly, participants in the *Muslim Shooter* condition (M = 2.23, SD =0.64) reported attitudes towards Muslims that were *less* negative than participants in the control condition, M = 2.33, SD = 0.71, t(614.92) = -2.02, p = .044, d = -0.16, 95% CI [0.00, -0.32], but not significantly different from participants in the *Christian Shooter* condition, M = 2.26, SD = 0.71, t(610.9) = -0.63, p =.527, d = -0.05, 95% CI [-0.21, 0.11].

I did not find evidence that reading about the Muslim mass shooter increased support for security policies targeting Muslims (p's >= .946), a finding which did not interact with attitudes towards Muslims (p's > .289).

In contrast to the change in beliefs about the percentage of Muslim shooters, I did not find evidence that beliefs about the percentage of mass shooters who are Christian varied across conditions (p's > = .085), a finding which did not interact with attitudes towards Christians (p's > .442). Thus, I did not find evidence that news coverage of a Christian mass shooter changed beliefs about the extent to which Christians are responsible for mass shootings.

Discussion

Study 4 demonstrates that news coverage of a Muslim mass shooter can change beliefs about the extent to which Muslims are responsible for mass shootings. Specifically, participants who encountered news coverage of a Muslim mass shooter estimated that a greater percentage of mass shooters were Muslims, relative to participants in the other study conditions. I found mixed evidence that this effect interacted with attitudes towards Muslims, a finding which I explore further in future studies.

Surprisingly, participants who read about the Muslim mass shooter had more positive attitudes towards Muslims than participants who read about the Christian shooter. Because this effect was unexpected and only slightly less than the threshold for statistical significance (p = .044), I explore it further in future studies before providing an interpretation.

Finally, I did not find evidence that news coverage changed support for anti-Muslim policies or beliefs about Christian mass shooters.

Although Study 4 finds evidence that media coverage can change beliefs about Muslims and mass shootings, the news articles in Study 4 were fake articles created to maximize experimental control. I created the articles so that they were similar in content and appearance to past articles which have appeared in the New York Times, but it is still possible that real news coverage has different effects than these articles. To test whether similar effects would occur in response to real media coverage, Study 5 was a replication of Study 4 conducted in the wake of two major mass shootings in the United States.

STUDY 5: Replication of Study 4

Study 5 was a replication of Study 4 conducted in light of two nearly contemporaneous mass shootings featuring a Muslim and Christian shooter, respectively. On March 16th, 2021, a Christian perpetrator committed a mass shooting in Atlanta, Georgia. Less than a week later, on March 22nd a Muslim perpetrator committed a mass shooting in Boulder, Colorado. I conducted Study 5 the day after the Boulder shooting. Participants were randomly assigned to read a Fox News article that described the Atlanta shooter, to read a Fox News article with a similar format that described the Boulder shooter, or to a no-article control group.

Methods

Participants and Procedure

I recruited 1001 participants from Prolific.co (sample size was chosen to roughly match Study 4). I excluded 21 participants for failing more than one of the three comprehension checks from earlier studies, leaving a final sample of 980. In order to quickly collect data the day after the Boulder shooting, Study 5 was not pre-registered. Participants were randomly assigned to one of three conditions. In the *Boulder Shooter* condition, participants were shown a news article published on foxnews.com following the 2021 mass shooting in Boulder, Colorado (Pagones, 2021). The article, titled: *Boulder shooting suspect Ahmad Al Aliwi Alissa: What we know*, described the Boulder mass shooting and provided details about the shooter, who was Muslim. In the *Atlanta Shooter* condition, participants were shown a news article published on foxnews.com following the 2021 mass shooting in Atlanta, Georgia (Conklin, 2021). The article, titled: *Atlanta shooting suspect Robert Long: What to know*, described the Atlanta mass shooting and provided details about the shooter, who was a Christian. In the *Control* Condition, participants did not read a news article.

Participants then completed the dependent measures from previous studies, as well as additional exploratory measures.

Results

Consistent with Study 4, participants who read about the Boulder shooter (M = 23.38, SD = 22.08, Mdn = 15, n = 326) estimated a greater percentage of mass shooters were Muslim, relative to participants who read about the Atlanta shooter, M = 17.92, SD = 19.49, Mdn = 10, n = 330; t(642.14) = 10

3.36, p < .001, d = 0.26, 95% CI [0.11, 0.42]; W = 42848, p < .001. Participants who read about the Boulder shooter also estimated that a greater percentage of mass shooters were Muslim relative to the control group (M = 20.57, SD = 21.67, Mdn = 13, n = 324), although this effect was only statistically significant when using a non-parametric analysis, t(647.9) = 1.64, p = .051, d = 0.13, 95% CI [-0.03, 0.28]; W = 59352, p = .006. I did not find evidence that these findings interacted with attitudes towards Muslims (p's > .399).

Consistent with past studies, I did not find evidence that negative attitudes towards Muslims were more negative in the *Boulder Shooter* condition (M = 2.37, SD = 0.75) than in the *Control* condition, M = 2.29, SD = 0.74, t(647.99) = 1.24, p = .217, d = 0.10, 95% CI [-0.06, 0.25]. However, in contrast to Studies 2 and 4, attitudes towards Muslims were more negative in the *Boulder Shooting* condition than in the *Atlanta Shooting* condition, M = 2.24, SD = 0.64, t(636.76) = 2.23, p = .026, d = 0.17, 95% CI [0.02, 0.33].

Also unlike in Study 4, participants who read about the Atlanta shooting believed that a greater percentage of mass shooters are Christians (M = 50.75, SD = 27.28, Mdn = 50), relative to participants who read about the Boulder shooting, M = 42.75, SD = 26.20, Mdn = 41; t(652.6) = 3.83, p < .001, d = 0.27, 95% CI [0.11, 0.42]; W = 62383, p < .001, and relative to participants in the control group, M = 45.04, SD = 27.41, Mdn = 47.5; t(651.65) = 2.67, p = .008, d = 0.21, 95% CI [0.05, 0.36]; W = 47243, p = .010.

Finally, I did not find evidence that support for security policies targeting Muslims differed across conditions (p's > .075), a finding which did not interact with attitudes towards Muslims (p's > .146).

Discussion

Study 5 replicates the results of Study 4, demonstrating that exposure to news coverage of a mass shooting with a Muslim perpetrator causes people to believe that Muslims are responsible for a larger share of mass shootings. This finding suggests that news organizations and journalists may want to exercise caution when reporting on the religion of mass shooters. If coverage of a Muslim mass shooter increases the perception than mass shootings are caused by Muslims, it might be better for news providers to simply adopt a policy of never discussing a mass shooters religion. However, a potential issue with this recommendation is the possibility that the public will fill-in missing details about a mass

shooting by making assumptions about the perpetrator that confirm their existing prejudices. In Studies 6A and 6B, I test whether this is the case by examining responses to news coverage which does not identify a mass shooter's religion.

STUDY 6A: What Happens When a Shooter's Religion is not Reported?

In Studies 6A and 6B, I examined how participants respond to news coverage which does not identify a mass shooter's religion. Although a number of studies have looked at the negative consequences of news coverage, research rarely examines how news coverage might be altered to prevent these consequences. Despite the absence of evidence on this topic, many organizations make recommendations about which information should and should not be included in media reports. For example, the *Associated Press Stylebook* (Associated Press, 2020) recommends that information about the race of criminal perpetrators should not be included in news reports, unless this information is directly relevant to the crime or can be used to aid in the capture of an individual sought by police. Yet, it is not clear what the effects of this policy are. As one example of how such a policy might be ineffective, research has demonstrated that when a criminal perpetrator's identity is ambiguous, members of the public frequently make assumptions about the perpetrator's race based on racial stereotypes (Dixon, 2006b, 2007). For example, one study presented participants with news coverage of an unidentified suspect who killed a police officer in Los Angeles (Dixon, 2007). When participants in the study were not given any information about the suspects race, they assumed the suspect was probably Black.

Thus, when no information about a mass shooter is presented, members of the public might assume that the mass shooter is likely a Muslim. If this is the case, exposure to news coverage of an unidentified shooter could increase the extent to which people believe mass shooting are caused by Muslims, just like coverage of a Muslim mass shooter. Because the majority of mass shooters are not Muslim (e.g. 91.4% of shooters in the database used in Study 1 are not Muslim), failing to identify the religion of mass shooters could lead to many cases where unidentified mass shooters are mistakenly assumed to be Muslim. As a result, failing to report information about religion might increase, rather than decrease, the negative consequences of news coverage of mass shootings.

In Studies 6A and 6B, I test whether news coverage of an unidentified mass shooter has the same effect as coverage of a Muslim mass shooter.

Research Questions

In Study 6A, I predicted that participants presented with an unidentified mass shooter would estimate that a greater percentage of mass shooters are Muslim, relative to participants who were not

shown a news article. I also tested whether this effect would interact with attitudes towards Muslims, although I did not have a prediction about whether this would be the case.

Additionally, I also examined the percentage of participants who assumed that the unidentified shooter was a Muslim. I predicted that participants with negative attitudes towards Muslims would be more likely to assume that the unidentified shooter was Muslim.

Methods

Participants

To balance resource constraints and statistical power, I defined the minimum effect size of interest in Study 6A as d = 0.3. For 80% power to detect an effect of size d = 0.3 (one tailed test, $\alpha = .05$), n = 278 is required. Additionally, I assumed that participants who had attitudes towards Muslims that are more negative than positive (i.e. participants who fall on the negative side of the attitudes towards Muslims scale) will be most likely to assume that an unidentified shooter is a Muslim. Assuming 35% of participants meet this criterion (based on the data from Study 4), I estimated that I would need to collect 794 participants to have 278 participants with negative evaluations of Muslims (794/0.35 = 278). To further increase the percentage of the sample with negative attitudes towards Muslims, I recruited only participants who identified as politically conservative. Target sample size, measures, hypotheses, and analysis plan were pre-registered prior to data collection (https://aspredicted.org/blind.php?x=hg6gs5).

I recruited 791 participants through Prolific.co. Using Prolific's pre-screening feature, I recruited only politically conservative participants. I excluded 12 (1.5%) participants for failing more than one of three comprehension checks, leaving a final sample of n = 779.

Procedure

Participants were randomly assigned to one of two conditions. In the Unidentified Shooter condition, participants read a news article which was nearly identical to the articles from Study 4, except it contained no information about the mass shooter's name or religion. The article described events roughly similar to those in past mass shootings in the US which had non-Muslim perpetrators. Specifically, it describes a mass shooter who hijacked a car, engaged in an indiscriminate shooting spree, and was eventually shot and killed in a standoff with police.

After reading the article, participants in the *Unidentified Shooter* condition were asked "If you had to guess, which of the following religions do you think the shooter is most likely to be a member of?". Participants were given the following options (in random order): "Islam", "Christianity", "Hinduism", "Atheism", and "Judaism". In the *Control* condition, participants did not read an article (and did not complete the question about the shooter's religion). Next, all participants the dependent measures from Study 4, and several additional measures.

Results

Half of the participants (50.11%) in the *Unidentified Shooter* condition assumed the shooter was Muslim. Additionally, participants with more negative attitudes towards Muslims were more likely to assume the unidentified shooter was Muslim (B = 1.20, p < .001).

As predicted, participants who read about the unidentified mass shooter believed that a greater percentage of mass shooters were Muslim (M = 33.64, SD = 26.15, Mdn = 27.5), relative to participants who did not read an article, M = 25.15, SD = 23.92, Mdn = 15; t(769.25) = 4.72, p < .001, d = 0.34, 95% CI [0.20, 0.48]; W = 58722, p < .001. I did not find evidence that the magnitude of this effect depended on participants' attitudes toward Muslims (B = 2.65, p = .237). Additionally, I did not find evidence that negative attitudes towards Muslims differed across conditions (p = .248).

As in earlier studies, I did not find evidence that support for security policies targeting Muslims differed across conditions (p = .225), a finding which did not interact with attitudes towards Muslims (p = .326).

STUDY 6B: Replication of Study 6A

Study 6B was conducted for several reasons. First, as Study 6A was conducted with a conservative sample, Study 6B was intended to replicate the results of Study 6A with a sample of liberal, conservative, and moderate participants. Second, Study 6B added an additional condition to demonstrate that news coverage of an unidentified mass shooter increases the perceived percentage of Muslim mass shooters relative to news coverage of a Christian mass shooter (in addition to changing perceptions relative to a condition with no news coverage).

Methods

Participants

I aimed for 90% power to detect d = 0.2 or greater (one-tailed test, $\alpha = .05$) between conditions, which requires n = 429 per condition. With three conditions, the total required sample for Study 6B was n = 1287. Target sample size, measures, hypotheses, and analysis plan were pre-registered prior to data collection (https://aspredicted.org/blind.php?x=nu2te8).

I recruited 1291 participants through Prolific.co, 36 (1.8%) of whom were excluded for failing more than one attention check, leaving a final sample of n = 1255.

Results

Consistent with Study 6A, a significant percentage of participants in the *Unidentified Shooter* condition assumed the shooter was most likely Muslim (25.2%). Participants with negative attitudes towards Muslims were more likely to assume the unidentified shooter was Muslim (B = -5.92, p < .001). Additionally, and confirming my pre-registered predictions, participants who encountered news coverage of an unidentified mass shooter believed that a greater percentage of mass shooters were Muslim (M = 28.65, SD = 25.43, Mdn = 20, n = 412), relative to both participants who read about the Christian shooter, M = 20.85, SD = 21.88, Mdn = 12, n = 416; t(793.3) = 4.69, p < .001, d = 0.33, 95% CI [0.19, 0.47]; W = 66356, p < .001, and to participants who did not read an article, M = 21.63, SD = 22.99, Mdn = 12, n = 427; t(808) = 4.15, p < .001, d = 0.29, 95% CI [0.15, 0.43], W = 68320, p < .001. As with Study 6A, I did not find evidence that these effects interacted with attitudes towards Muslims (p's > .286).

Participants who read about the unidentified shooter reported attitudes towards Muslims (M = 2.51, SD = 0.73) that were more negative than participants who read about the Christian shooter, M = 0.73

2.41, SD = 0.71, t(825.28) = 2.00, p = .045, d = 0.14, 95% CI [0.00, 0.28], but not significantly more negative than participants in the control group, M = 2.44, SD = 0.73, t(836.06) = 1.25, p = .214, d = 0.09, 95% CI [-0.05, 0.22].

As in earlier studies, I did not find evidence that support for security policies targeting Muslims differed across conditions (p's > .077), a finding which did not interact with attitudes towards Muslims (p's > .810).

Finally, I found evidence that news coverage altered beliefs about Christian mass shooters. Participants who read about the Christian shooter estimated that a greater percentage of mass shooters are Christian (M = 46.09, SD = 25.32, Mdn = 46) relative to participants who read about the unidentified shooter, M = 42.90, SD = 28.51, Mdn = 40; t(806.77) = 1.69, p = .091, d = 0.12, 95% CI [-0.02, 0.25]; W = 77828, p = .033, and relative to participants in the no article control group, M = 42.63, SD = 27.81, Mdn = 40; t(826.53) = 1.88, p = .060, d = 0.13, 95% CI [-0.01, 0.27]; W = 93513, p = .043. However, both effects were only statistically significant when using non-parametric tests.

Discussion

Studies 6A and 6B demonstrated that when news coverage of a mass shooting does not identify the mass shooter, many people, especially those who are prejudiced towards Muslims, assume this unidentified shooter is a Muslim. Consequently, news coverage of an unidentified mass shooter increases the extent to which people overestimate the percentage of mass shooters who are Muslim.

These findings indicate that a policy of withholding information about the religion of mass shooters is unlikely to prevent, and may even exacerbate, the negative consequences of media coverage. When a mass shooter is not Muslim, as is the case in the majority of mass shootings, withholding information about religion will lead many people to mistakenly assume the shooter is Muslim, increasing the extent to which mass shootings are attributed to Muslims. Furthermore, in the rare cases that a mass shooter is Muslim, withholding information about religion is unlikely to mitigate the negative effects of coverage. Although I do not demonstrate this by directly comparing coverage of an unidentified shooter and coverage of a Muslim mass shooter, I separately demonstrate that both types of coverage have similar negative effects (relative to no coverage). Thus, withholding information about religion will probably have the same (or very similar) effects as reporting that a shooter is Muslim.

In sum, Studies 6A and 6B suggest that withholding information about a mass shooters' religion will increase the negative consequences of coverage when the shooter is not Muslim and will probably have very little effect when the shooter is Muslim.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

In six studies, I examined media coverage of Muslim and non-Muslim mass shooters and the effects of this coverage on public attitudes. In Study 1, I demonstrated that between 2010 and 2020, Muslim mass shooters received more television news coverage than non-Muslim shooters. This increase in coverage for Muslim shooters was larger for news networks that are more conservative (e.g. Fox News) relative to networks that are more liberal (e.g. MSNBC).

Study 2 examined whether exposure to news coverage of Muslim mass shooters increases negative attitudes towards Muslims. Across six experiments and over 3000 participants, I did not find evidence that participants who were randomly assigned to read news coverage of a Muslim mass shooter had more negative attitudes towards Muslims, relative to participants who read coverage of a non-Muslim shooter. Although an absence of evidence is not the same as evidence for a null effect, the confidence interval in around the effect size in Study 2 (B = .05, 95% CI [-.02, .12]) suggests if an effect does exist, it is likely small (e.g. B < 0.12).

In addition to examining changes in overall evaluations of Muslims, I also tested whether news coverage of a Muslim mass shooter changed beliefs about the extent to which mass shooting are caused by Muslims. In Study 3, I demonstrated that members of the public, especially those who frequently watch news networks that allocate more coverage to Muslim mass shooters, overestimate the percentage of mass shooters who are Muslim. Studies 4 and 5 used experiments to demonstrate that exposure to news coverage of a Muslim mass shooter causes people to overestimate the percentage of mass shooters who are Muslim. In Studies 6A and 6B, I tested whether withholding information about a shooter's religion from news coverage would prevent these effects. It did not. When news coverage of a mass shooting did not mention the shooter's religion, a significant percentage of people (50% of the conservative sample in Study 6A, 25% of the politically balanced sample in Study 6B) assumed the shooter was Muslim. As a result, news coverage with no information about a shooter's religion caused an increase in the perceived percentage of mass shooters who are Muslim, just like news coverage which identified the shooter as a Muslim.

Partisan Media Coverage

The results of the news analysis in Study 1 are consistent with past research which finds that violent acts with Muslim perpetrators receive more coverage (Kearns et al., 2019) and are framed differently (Betus et al., 2019) than violent acts with non-Muslim perpetrators. I expand on this research by demonstrating that more conservative (vs liberal) news sources allocate more coverage to Muslim perpetrators and are more likely to frame Muslim preparators in a negative way. Moreover, in Study 3 I find that, even after controlling for political conservatism and negative attitudes towards Muslims, consumers of more conservative (vs liberal) news networks are more likely to overestimate the extent to which violence acts are committed by Muslims. In Study 4 and 5, I show that media coverage can cause this overestimation.

In concert, these findings may help explain why liberals and conservatives in the United States hold a different set of factual beliefs about many issues, including beliefs about the extent to which Muslims are responsible for acts of violence. Partisan differences in beliefs are often attributed to relatively recent advances in technology and media, such as social media echo chambers (Garimella & Weber, 2017), websites which present biased news targeted specifically at political partisans (Lelkes et al., 2017), and fake news (Osmundsen et al., 2020). Yet, my findings suggest that traditional forms of media, like television, may also play a significant role in explaining belief polarization. As television news is the most consumed form of news, especially among people aged 50 and older (Pew Research Center, 2018), its contribution to partisan differences in factual beliefs is likely significant.

As one example of how the differences I find could shape partisan differences in beliefs, my results indicate that more conservative news networks are more likely to describe Muslim mass shooters as terrorists, and more likely to discuss the role of religion in Muslim shootings. This may explain why people who are politically conservatives are more likely to endorse stereotypes about Islam and terrorism (Mercier et al., 2018).

A notable limitation of these findings is that the number of mass shootings included in Study 1 is small (n = 56), especially the number with Muslim perpetrators (n = 4). Although I have multiple observations (days) for each mass shooting, which increases the precision of my estimates and my statistical power, these results should still be interpreted with caution. I note however, that the differences

between Muslim and non-Muslim perpetrators I observe are similar to those demonstrated in past research (Betus et al., 2019; Kearns et al., 2019).

Despite widespread speculation about a media double-standard, I do not find evidence that mental illness is less likely to be mentioned in coverage of Muslim mass shooters than in coverage of non-Muslim shooters, even by more conservative news networks. I advise caution in interpreting this null effect, especially since the small number of Muslim mass shooters in my sample limits statistical power, making it unlikely that I would have detected a difference in coverage if it was small in magnitude. Nonetheless, I note that I do find that mental illness is discussed more frequently when perpetrators have a past mental illness diagnosis. This indicates that the sample size and methods used in Study 1 are sufficient to detect differences in mental illness coverage in situations where such differences would be expected. Additionally, a failure to find a difference in mental illness coverage between Muslim and non-Muslim perpetrators is consistent with past research which has also failed to find such differences (Betus et al., 2019). Thus, although members of the public perceive Muslim mass shooters as less mentally ill than non-Muslim mass shooters, my results provide tentative evidence that these perceptions are not the result of news coverage. Instead, Muslim mass shooters may be perceived as less mentally ill for other reasons, such as a motivation to blame religion (rather than mental illness) for their actions (Mercier et al., 2018).

Effects of Media Coverage on Prejudice

The effects of media coverage on prejudice is an important topic which has been the focus of large amount of research (Dixon, 2019). Yet, much of this research suffers from significant methodological limitations, including the use of small samples. Study 2 is (in my knowledge) the largest and most comprehensive experimental test of whether exposure to news coverage containing negative information about a minority group can increase prejudice towards that group. Despite this, Study 2 fails to find evidence that news coverage increases negative attitudes towards Muslims.

Notably, the experiments presented in Studies 4-6 also test whether media coverage increases prejudice towards Muslims, with mixed results. Studies 5 and 6B found evidence that news coverage of a Muslim mass shooter and news coverage of an unidentified shooter (whom many participants assumed was Muslim), increased negative attitudes towards Muslims. However, these effects were only found

relative to participants who encountered coverage of a Christian shooter and not relative to participants who did not encounter any news coverage. Additionally, 6A did not find evidence that coverage of a Muslim mass shooter increased negative attitudes towards Muslims, and Study 4 found evidence that this coverage made attitudes towards Muslims more *positive* (relative to a no coverage control group).

To evaluate the overall evidence for the effect of news on attitudes towards Muslim, I combined the all the data from Studies 2, 4, 5, 6A, and 6B. As in Study 2, I calculated the overall effect across all studies using a multi-level model with a random intercept for each study, and with political conservatism as an interaction variable. Across all studies, I did not find evidence that news coverage affected attitudes towards Muslims (B = 0.08, p = .130, 95% CI [-.02, .17]), nor did I find evidence for an interaction with political attitudes (B = 0.00, p = .845, 95% CI [-.03, .03]).

This finding is consistent with past research on news coverage and attitudes towards Muslims (Boydstun et al., 2018; Das et al., 2009; Saleem et al., 2017), but conflicts with research demonstrating that news coverage can increase prejudice towards other minorities groups, including African Americans (Dixon, 2006a; Gilliam & Iyengar, 2000). This difference in findings could indicate that it is harder to increase prejudice towards Muslims than to increase prejudice towards other minority groups. In America, explicit attitudes towards Muslims are generally more negative than explicit attitudes towards other minority groups (McCarthy, 2019), which could make it harder to make these attitudes even more negative than they already are. For example, on a feeling thermometer ranging from 0 (most negative) to 100 (most positive attitude), the average American reports very warm feelings towards Blacks (M = 83; Pew Research Center, 2019a), but much more ambivalent feelings towards Muslims (M = 49; Pew Research Center, 2019c). Thus, the difference between my findings and the significant effects demonstrated in past research on news coverage and prejudice towards African Americans may indicate that it is easier to decrease the extent of Americans' positive attitudes towards Blacks than it is to make Americans' ambivalent attitudes towards Muslims more negative.

Yet, as there are significant methodological issues with much of the research on news coverage and prejudice towards minority groups, it is also possible that the significant effects found in this research are false positives. Future research should use more rigorous methods, such as pre-registered replication studies, to help clarify whether these effects are genuine.
Although I do not find evidence that news coverage of Muslims increases negative attitudes towards Muslims, this finding does mean that news coverage does not affect discrimination. In contrast to the null findings observed in research on prejudice, studies have found significant increases in discrimination towards Muslims following acts of mass violence with Muslim perpetrators (Rousseau et al., 2011). For example, in the year following 9-11, hate crimes towards Muslims were 17 times higher than in the year prior to 9-11 (Ser, 2016).

Why might discrimination increase without overall changes in attitudes? One possibility is that acts of discrimination are committed by a minority of the population who already hold prejudiced attitudes prior to a major news event. When a news event occurs, prejudiced individuals may attribute the event to a minority group, leading them to act on their prejudice and discriminate against members of the group they believe is responsible.

Attitudes Towards Muslims vs Beliefs About Muslim Mass Shooters

Why did news coverage of a Muslim mass shooter change beliefs about the extent to which Muslims commit mass shootings, but not overall attitudes towards Muslims? Attitudes towards Muslims are a broad, high-level attitude. These attitudes are likely the result of many different things, including personal interactions or relationships that people have with Muslims (Cooper, 2017; Savelkoul et al., 2011), media depictions of Muslim celebrities (Alrababah et al., 2019), exposure to Muslim refugees, (Hangartner et al., 2017), Christian nationalism (Merino, 2010), and beliefs about the extent to which Islam inspires terrorism (Andersen & Mayerl, 2018). In contrast, an individuals' perception of the frequency that mass shootings are committed by Muslims is a specific belief about the world, which should be easier to change with the presentation of relevant news coverage.

Interaction with Attitudes Towards Muslims

Highlighting the power of media to shape beliefs, I generally (on 6 out of 7 statistical tests) do not find evidence that the effects of media coverage interact with attitudes towards Muslims. That is, in contrast to past research suggesting that people are more receptive to evidence confirming their existing beliefs (Ditto & Lopez, 1992), I do not find evidence that individuals who are more prejudiced towards Muslims are more willing to shift their beliefs about Muslims in response to news coverage of Muslim mass shooters. Instead, my results are consistent with theories about Bayesian updating (Hill, 2017)

61

which posit that, regardless of their initial attitudes, people update their beliefs to integrate both their existing attitudes and new information.

Beliefs About Minority and Majority Groups

Although my results clearly show that exposure to news coverage about a minority religious group (Muslims) changed perceptions of the extent to which violence is caused by that group, I found mixed evidence for a comparable effect on beliefs about the majority religious group (Christians). In Studies 4 and 6B, I controlled the content of the news articles to ensure that both the Muslim and Christian articles spent a similar amount of time discussing the shooter's religion (one paragraph). Using a within-paper meta-analysis to combine the effects across these studies, I find that the change in beliefs about Muslim shooters in response to an article about a Muslim shooter (Study 4: *smd* = 0.34, 95% CI [0.18, 0.497]) was larger than the average change in beliefs about Christian shooters produced by the article about a Christian shooter (Studies 4 and 6B: *smd* = .08, 95% CI [.03, 0.18]; z = 2.7, p = .008; see Appendix C for full analysis details). Thus, when the amount of time spent discussing religion is held constant, news coverage produced a larger change in perceptions of Muslims.

In contrast, in Study 5 I used articles from foxnews.com. In this study, the article about the Christian shooter spent a significant amount of time discussing the shooter's religion (seven paragraphs), while the article about the Muslim shooter only mentioned the shooter's religion once. In this case, I found no evidence that the size of the change in beliefs about Muslim and Christian shooters was different (z = 1.5, p = 0.126). As the media analysis in Study 1 indicates that news organizations typically do not spend a lot of time discussing Christianity following a Christian shooting, this level of focus on a Christian shooter's religion appears relatively rare. Nonetheless, the results of Study 5 suggest that in the rare cases when news coverage does focus extensively on a Christian shooter's religion, this coverage can have effects comparable to the effects of coverage of Muslim shooters.

News Coverage and Policy Support

I do not find evidence that exposure to news coverage of Muslim mass shooters changes support for security policies that attempt to prevent mass shootings by specifically targeting Muslims. One explanation for this null result is that opposition to such policies is not motivated by beliefs about how effectively they would reduce mass shootings, but instead by the view that it is immoral to specifically

62

target a group on the basis of "sacred" categories like race or religion (Tetlock, 2003). As a result, those opposed to such policies (in my studies, the majority of participants) may be unwilling to shift their opposition to them, even if a change in their perceptions of mass shootings leads them to think that such policies might be more effective.

Conclusion

Finally, I find that reducing public associations between Muslims and mass shootings may be difficult. Although I demonstrate that news coverage of a Muslim mass shooter increases perceptions about the extent to which Muslims are responsible for mass shootings, I also show that a similar increase occurs in the absence of information about a shooter's religion. Thus, when a mass shooter is Muslim, simply omitting information about their religion is unlikely to prevent media coverage from reinforcing negative beliefs about Muslims. Furthermore, when a shooter is not Muslim, omitting information about religion may actually increase the perceived association between Muslims and mass shootings.

My findings add to a growing body of research indicating that news coverage of mass shootings can have negative consequences, including increasing stress and anxiety (Wilson, 2014), making future shootings more likely (Jetter & Walker, 2018), and in my case, contributing to negative stereotypes about a minority religious group. Furthermore, my findings suggest that the negative consequences resulting from news coverage of Muslim mass shooters are unlikely to be mitigated by changing in the way mass shootings are covered. Instead, the best way to mitigate the negative consequences of mass shootings might be for news organizations to simply spend less time covering them.

63

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, S., & Matthes, J. (2017). Media representation of Muslims and Islam from 2000 to 2015: A metaanalysis. International Communication Gazette, 79(3), 219–244. https://doi.org/10.1177/1748048516656305
- Alderman, J. D. (1994). Leading the public: The media's focus on crime shaped sentiment. *Public Perspective*, *5*(6), 30–31.
- Alrababah, A., Marble, W., Mousa, S., & Siegel, A. (2019). Can Exposure to Celebrities Reduce Prejudice? The Effect of Mohamed Salah on Islamophobic Behaviors and Attitudes. 19. https://doi.org/10.31235/osf.io/eq8ca

Altareb, B. Y. (1997). Attitudes towards Muslims: Initial scale development. Ball State University.

Andersen, H., & Mayerl, J. (2018). Attitudes towards Muslims and fear of terrorism. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *41*(15), 2634–2655. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2017.1413200

Arva, B., Idris, M., & Pervez, F. (2017). Almost all news coverage of the Barcelona attack mentioned terrorism. Very little coverage of Charlottesville did. The Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/monkey-cage/wp/2017/08/31/almost-all-news-coverage-ofthe-barcelona-attack-mentioned-terrorism-very-little-coverage-of-charlottesville-did/

Associated Press. (2020). The Associated Press Stylebook. Basic Books.

- Baranauskas, A. J. (2020). Exploring the Social Construction of Crime by Neighborhood: News Coverage of Crime in Boston. Sociological Focus, 53(2), 156–176. https://doi.org/10.1080/00380237.2020.1730280
- Barlow, M. H. (1998). Race and the problem of crime in Time and Newsweek cover stories, 1946 to 1995. *Social Justice*, *25*(2), 149–183.
- Baum, M. A., Benedictis-Kessner, J., Berinsky, A., Knox, D., & Yamamoto, T. (2015). Disentangling the causes and effects of partisan media choice in a polarized environment: research to date and a way forward. *Preprint*, 1–29.
- Betus, A., Kearns, E., & Lemieux, A. (2019). "Terrorism" or "Mental Illness"?: Factors that Impact How Media Label Terrorist Attacks. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3433933
 Bjelopera, J. P., Bagalman, E., Caldwell, S. W., Finklea, K. M., & Mccallion, G. (2013). Public Mass

Shootings in the United States : Selected Implications for Federal Public Health and Safety Policy.

- Bjornstrom, E. E. S., Kaufman, R. L., Peterson, R. D., & Slater, M. D. (2010). Race and ethnic representations of lawbreakers and victims in crime news: A national Study of television coverage. *Social Problems*, 57(2), 269–293. https://doi.org/10.1525/sp.2010.57.2.269
- Bleich, E., & van der Veen, A. M. (2018). Media portrayals of Muslims: a comparative sentiment analysis of American newspapers, 1996–2015. *Politics, Groups, and Identities*, 9(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/21565503.2018.1531770
- Bohr, J. (2020). Reporting on climate change: A computational analysis of U.S. newspapers and sources of bias, 1997–2017. *Global Environmental Change*, *61*, 102038. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2020.102038
- Booty, M., Dwyer, J. O., Webster, D., Mccourt, A., & Crifasi, C. (2019). Describing a "mass shooting ": the role of databases in understanding burden. *Journal of Injury Epidemiology*, *6*(47), 1–8.
- Boydstun, A. E., Feezell, J. T., & Glazier, R. A. (2018). In the wake of a terrorist attack, do Americans' attitudes toward Muslims decline? *Research and Politics*, *5*(4). https://doi.org/10.1177/2053168018806391
- Busselle, R. W., & Shrum, L. J. (2003). Media exposure and exemplar accessibility. *Media Psychology*, *5*(3), 255–282. https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532785XMEP0503_02
- Butler, A. (2015). Shooters of color are called 'terrorists' and 'thugs.' Why are White shooters called 'mentally ill'? The Washington Post.
 - https://www.washingtonpost.com/posteverything/wp/2015/06/18/call-the-charleston-churchshooting-what-it-is-terrorism/
- Button, K. S., Ioannidis, J. P. A., Mokrysz, C., Nosek, B. A., Flint, J., Robinson, E. S. J., & Munafò, M. R.
 (2013). Power failure: Why small sample size undermines the reliability of neuroscience. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *14*(5), 365–376. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3475
- Cesario, J. (2014). Priming, Replication, and the Hardest Science. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *9*(1), 40–48. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691613513470
- Chapman University. (2018a). America's Top Fears 2018: Chapman University Survey of American Fears. Chapman University. https://blogs.chapman.edu/wilkinson/2018/10/16/americas-top-fears-

2018/

- Chapman University. (2018b). Fear of Muslims in American Society Chapman University Survey of American Fears. https://blogs.chapman.edu/wilkinson/2018/10/16/fear-of-muslims-in-americansociety/
- Chartier, C. R., Arnal, J. D., Arrow, H., Bloxsom, N. G., Bonfiglio, D. B. V., Brumbaugh, C. C., Corker, K.
 S., Ebersole, C. R., Garinther, A., Giessner, S. R., Hughes, S., Inzlicht, M., Lin, H., Mercier, B.,
 Metzger, M., Rangel, D., Saunders, B., Schmidt, K., Storage, D., & Tocco, C. (2020). Many Labs 5:
 Registered Replication of Albarracín et al. (2008), Experiment 5. *Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science*, *3*(3), 332–339. https://doi.org/10.1177/2515245920945963

Chermak, S. M. (1995). Victims in the news: Crime in American news media. Westview Press.

Chermak, S. M., & Gruenewald, J. (2006). The media's coverage of domestic terrorism. *Justice Quarterly*, 23(4), 428–461. https://doi.org/10.1080/07418820600985305

Chmielewski, M., & Kucker, S. C. (2019). An MTurk Crisis? Shifts in Data Quality and the Impact on Study Results. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, *11*(4), 464–473. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550619875149

Cohen, B. C. (1963). The Press and Foreign Policy. Princeton University Press.

- Collins, A. M., & Loftus, E. F. (1975). A spreading-activation theory of semantic processing. *Psychological Review*, *82*(6), 407–428. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.82.6.407
- Congressional Research Service. (2015). Mass murder with firearms: Incidents and victims, 1999–2013. In *Congressional Research Service* (Vols. 7–5700). https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R44126.pdf

Conklin, A. (2021). Atlanta shooting suspect Robert Long: What to know. Foxnews.Com. https://www.foxnews.com/us/who-is-atlanta-shooter-robert-aaron-long

Cooper, B. (2017). Americans Who Interact with Muslims Hold More Positive Views of Muslims, Refugees. https://www.prri.org/spotlight/social-contact-muslims-refugee-ban/

- Correll, J., Park, B., Judd, C. M., & Wittenbrink, B. (2007). The influence of stereotypes on decisions to shoot. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, *37*(6), 1102–1117. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.450
- Curran, P. J., & Hussong, A. M. (2009). Integrative Data Analysis: The Simultaneous Analysis of Multiple Data Sets. *Psychological Methods*, *14*(2), 81–100. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015914

- Das, E., Bushman, B. J., Bezemer, M. D., Kerkhof, P., & Vermeulen, I. E. (2009). How terrorism news reports increase prejudice against outgroups: A terror management account. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 45(3), 453–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2008.12.001
- Ditto, P. H., & Lopez, D. F. (1992). Motivated Skepticism: Use of Differential Decision Criteria for Preferred and Nonpreferred Conclusions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 63(4), 568– 584. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.63.4.568
- Ditto, P. H., Munro, G. D., Lockhart, L. K., Scepansky, J. A., & Apanovitch, A. M. (1998). Motivated Sensitivity to Preference-Inconsistent Information. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 75(1), 53–69. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.75.1.53
- Dixon, T. L. (2006a). Psychological reactions to crime news portrayals of Black criminals: Understanding the moderating roles of prior news viewing and stereotype endorsement. *Communication Monographs*, 73(2), 162–187. https://doi.org/10.1080/03637750600690643
- Dixon, T. L. (2006b). Schemas as average conceptions: Skin tone, television news exposure, and culpability judgments. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, *83*(1), 131–149.
- Dixon, T. L. (2007). Black criminals and white officers: The effects of racially misrepresenting law breakers and law defenders on television news. *Media Psychology*, *10*(2), 270–291. https://doi.org/10.1080/15213260701375660
- Dixon, T. L. (2008). Who is the victim here? The psychological effects of overrepresenting White victims and Black perpetrators on television news. *Journalism*, *9*(5), 582–605. https://doi.org/10.1177/1464884908094160
- Dixon, T. L. (2017). Good Guys Are Still Always in White? Positive Change and Continued
 Misrepresentation of Race and Crime on Local Television News. *Communication Research*, *44*(6), 775–792. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650215579223
- Dixon, T. L. (2019). Media Stereotypes: Content, effects, and theory. In M. B. Oliver, A. A. Raney, & J. Bryant (Eds.), *Media Effects: Advances in Theory and Research: Fourth Edition* (Vol. 9, pp. 243–257). Taylo.
- Dixon, T. L., & Azocar, C. L. (2007). Priming crime and activating blackness: Understanding the psychological impact of the overrepresentation of blacks as lawbreakers on television news. *Journal*

of Communication, 57(2), 229–253. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2007.00341.x

- Dixon, T. L., Azocar, C. L., & Casas, M. (2003). The Portrayal of Race and Crime on Television Network News. Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media, 47(4), 498–523. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15506878jobem4704_2
- Dixon, T. L., & Linz, D. (2000a). Overrepresentation and Underrepresentation of African Americans and Latinos as Lawbreakers on Television News. *Journal of Communication*, *50*(2), 131–154. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2000.tb02845.x
- Dixon, T. L., & Linz, D. (2000b). Race and the Misrepresentation of Victimization on Local Television News. *Communication Research*, *27*(5), 547–573. https://doi.org/10.1177/009365000027005001
- Dixon, T. L., & Maddox, K. B. (2005). Skin tone, crime news, and social reality judgments: Priming the stereotype of the dark and dangerous black criminal. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 35(8), 1555–1570. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2005.tb02184.x
- Dixon, T. L., & Williams, C. L. (2015). The Changing Misrepresentation of Race and Crime on Network and Cable News. *Journal of Communication*, *65*(1), 24–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcom.12133
- Dowler, K. (2004). Dual realities? Criminality, victimization, and the presentation of race on local television news. *Journal of Crime and Justice*, *27*(2), 79–99. https://doi.org/10.1080/0735648X.2004.9721196
- Doyen, S., Klein, O., Simons, D. J., & Cleeremans, A. (2014). On the Other Side of the Mirror: Priming in Cognitive and Social Psychology. *Social Cognition*, *32*, 12–32. https://doi.org/10.1521/soco.2014.32.supp.12
- Dunwoody, P. T., & McFarland, S. G. (2018). Support for Anti-Muslim Policies: The Role of Political Traits and Threat Perception. *Political Psychology*, 39(1), 89–106. https://doi.org/10.1111/pops.12405
- Duwe, G. (2000). Body-Count Journalism: THe Presentation of Mass Murder in the News Media. *Homicide Studies*, *4*(4), 364–399.

https://docs.google.com/viewer?url=http://www.ippnw.de/commonFiles/pdfs/Frieden/Body_Count_O pferzahlen2012.pdf

Easley, C. (2016). Half of Voters Back Muslim Travel Ban, Patrols of Muslim Neighborhoods. Morning Consult. https://morningconsult.com/2016/03/29/polling-muslim-travel-ban-patrolling-muslimneighborhood/

- Eisenberg, N., & Silver, R. C. (2011). Growing Up in the Shadow of Terrorism: Youth in America After 9/11. American Psychologist, 66(6), 468–481. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024619
- Eisenman, R. (1993). Belief that drug usage in the United States is increasing when it is really decreasing: An example of the availability heuristic. *Bulletin of the Psychonomic Society*, *31*(4), 249–252. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03334920
- FBI.gov. (2021). What we investigate. Federal Bureau of Investigation. https://www.fbi.gov/investigate/terrorism
- Follman, M., Aronsen, G., & Pan, D. (2020). US Mass Shootings, 1982-2020: Data From Mother Jones' Investigation. Mother Jones. https://www.motherjones.com/politics/2012/12/mass-shootings-motherjones-full-data/
- Ford, C. A., Udry, J. R., Gleiter, K., & Chantala, K. (2003). Reactions of young adults to September 11, 2001. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, 157(6), 572–578.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/archpedi.157.6.572
- Fox News Staff. (2021, March). *Hannity: The left using Colorado shooting "for political purposes" to push new gun bans*. Fox News. https://www.foxnews.com/media/hannity-the-left-using-colorado-shootingfor-political-purposes-to-push-new-gun-bans

Gallup. (2020). Socialism and Atheism Still U.S. Political Liabilities.

https://news.gallup.com/poll/285563/socialism-atheism-political-liabilities.aspx

- Garimella, V. R. K., & Weber, I. (2017). A long-term analysis of polarization on Twitter. *Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Web and Social Media, ICWSM 2017, Icwsm*, 528–531.
- Gilchrist, K. (2010). Newsworthy Victims?: Exploring differences in Canadian local press coverage of missing/murdered Aboriginal and White women. *Feminist Media Studies*, *10*(4), 373–390. https://doi.org/10.1080/14680777.2010.514110
- Gilliam, F. D., & Iyengar, S. (2000). Prime Suspect the Influnece of Television News on the View Public. *American Journal of Political Science*, *44*(3), 560–573.
- Gilliam, F. D., Iyengar, S., Simon, A., & Wright, O. (1996). Crime in Black and White. *Harvard International Journal of Press/Politics*, *1*(3), 6–23.

Global Database of Events Language and Tone. (2020). Television Explorer.

https://api.gdeltproject.org/api/v2/summary/summary?d=iatv&t=summary

Graber, D. A., & Dunaway, J. (2015). Mass Media and American Politics. CQ Press.

- Greenwald, A. G., Rudman, L. A., Nosek, B. A., Banaji, M. R., Farnham, S. D., & Mellott, D. S. (2002). A unified theory of implicit attitudes, stereotypes, self-esteem, and self-concept. *Psychological Review*, 109(1), 3–25. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.109.1.3
- Gregg, A., & Posner, M. (1990). *The big picture: What Canadians think about almost everything*. Macfarlane, Walter, & Ross.
- Gruenewald, J., Pizarro, J., & Chermak, S. M. (2009). Race, gender, and the newsworthiness of homicide incidents. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *37*(3), 262–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2009.04.006

Gun Violence Archive. (2020). Gun Violence Archive 2020. https://www.gunviolencearchive.org/

- Hangartner, D., Dinas, E., Marbach, M., Matakos, K., & Xefteris, D. (2017). Does Exposure to the Refugee Crisis Make Natives More Hostile? *American Political Science Review*, 13(2), 442-455. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3042936
- Harris, C. R., Coburn, N., Rohrer, D., & Pashler, H. (2013). Two Failures to Replicate High-Performance-Goal Priming Effects. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(8), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0072467
- Harris, R. J., & Sanborn, F. W. (2013). A cognitive psychology of mass communication. In *A Cognitive Psychology of Mass Communication*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203110904
- Hetherington, M. J., & Nelson, M. (2003). Anatomy of a rally effect: George W. Bush and the war on terrorism. *Political Science and Politics*, *36*(1), 37–42.
- Hill, S. J. (2017). Learning together slowly: Bayesian learning about political facts. *Journal of Politics*, 79(4), 1403–1418. https://doi.org/10.1086/692739
- Holt, L. F. (2013). Writing the wrong: Can counter-stereotypes offset negative media messages about African Americans? *Journalism and Mass Communication Quarterly*, *90*(1), 108–125. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077699012468699
- Holtzman, N. S., Schott, J. P., Jones, M. N., Balota, D. A., & Yarkoni, T. (2011). Exploring media bias with semantic analysis tools: Validation of the Contrast Analysis of Semantic Similarity (CASS). *Behavior Research Methods*, 43(1), 193–200. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-010-0026-z

Hough, M., & Joberts, J. (2005). Understanding public attitudes to criminal justice. McGraw-Hill

Education.

- Hurley, R. J., Jensen, J. J., Weaver, A., & Dixon, T. (2015). Viewer Ethnicity Matters: Black Crime in TV
 News and Its Impact on Decisions Regarding Public Policy. *Journal of Social Issues*, *71*(1), 155–170. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12102
- Im, Y.-H., Cho, Y. Y., & Kim, E. (2017). Portrayals of Foreign-Born Residents in South Korean Crime News. Korea Observer, 48(2), 361.

Internet Archive. (2020). Internet Archive TV News. https://archive.org/details/tv

- Ioannidis, J. P. A. (2005). Why Most Published Research Findings are False. *PLoS Medicine*, 2(8), 0696–0701. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0020124
- Jetter, M., & Walker, J. K. (2018). The Effect of Media Coverage on Mass Shootings The Effect of Media Coverage on Mass Shootings. *IZA – Institute of Labor Economics*, *11900*.

Johnson, J. D., Bushman, B. J., & Dovidio, J. F. (2008). Support for harmful treatment and reduction of empathy toward blacks: "Remnants" of stereotype activation involving Hurricane Katrina and "Lil' Kim". *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *44*(6), 1506–1513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2008.07.002

- Kearns, E. M., Betus, A. E., & Lemieux, A. F. (2019). Why Do Some Terrorist Attacks Receive More Media Attention Than Others? *Justice Quarterly*, *36*(6), 985–1022. https://doi.org/10.1080/07418825.2018.1524507
- Kuznetsova, A., Brockhoff, P., & Christensen, R. (2017). ImerTest Package: Tests in Linear Mixed Effects Models. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 82(13), 1–26.
- Larcinese, V., Puglisi, R., & Snyder, J. M. (2011). Partisan Bias in Economic News: Evidence for the agenda setting-behavior of U.S. newspapers. *Journal of Public Economics*, *95*(5), 1178–1189.
- Larsen, M. V. (2020). Reducing Bias in Citizens' perception of crime rates: Evidence from a field experiment on Burglary Prevalence. *Journal of Politics*, *8*2(2), 747–752. https://doi.org/10.1086/706595
- Lelkes, Y., Sood, G., & Iyengar, S. (2017). The Hostile Audience: The Effect of Access to Broadband Internet on Partisan Affect. *American Journal of Political Science*, *61*(1), 5–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajps.12237

- Lord, C. G., Ross, L., & Lepper, M. R. (1979). Biased assimilation and attitude polarization: The effects of prior theories on subsequently considered evidence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *37*(11), 2098–2109. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.37.11.2098
- Lowry, D. T., Nio, T. C. J., & Leither, D. W. (2003). Setting the public fear agenda: A longitudinal analysis of network TV crime reporting, public perceptions of crime, and FBI crime statistics. *Journal of Communication*, *53*(1), 61–73. https://doi.org/10.1093/joc/53.1.61
- Luca, M., Malhotra, D., & Poliquin, C. (2020). The impact of mass shootings on gun policy. *Journal of Public Economics*, *181*, 104083. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2019.104083
- Mastro, D., Lapinski, M. K., Kopacz, M. A., & Behm-Morawitz, E. (2009). The influence of exposure to depictions of race and crime in TV news on viewer's social judgments. *Journal of Broadcasting and Electronic Media*, 53(4), 615–635. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838150903310534
- Mathis-Lilley, B. (2017). First Muslim Ban Poll Finds Americans Support Trump Order by 7-Point Margin. Slate. https://slate.com/news-and-politics/2017/01/reuters-ipsos-muslim-ban-poll-finds-support-fororder.html
- McCarthy, J. (2019). Less Than Half in U.S. Would Vote for a Socialist for President.
- McCombs, M. E. (2018). Setting the agenda: Mass media and public opinion. John Wiley & Sons.
- McCombs, M. E., & Donald, L. (1993). The Evolution of Agenda-Setting Research : Twenty-Five Years in the Marketplace of Ideas. *Journal of Communication*, *43*(2), 58–67.
- McCombs, M. E., & Shaw, D. (1972). The Agenda-Setting function of mass media. Agenda Setting: Readings on Media, Public Opinion, and Policymaking, 17–26. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315538389
- McGinty, E. E., Webster, D. W., & Barry, C. L. (2013). Effects of news media messages about mass shootings on attitudes toward persons with serious mental illness and public support for gun control policies. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *170*(5), 494–501. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.13010014
- McGinty, E. E., Webster, D. W., Jarlenski, M., & Barry, C. L. (2014). News media framing of serious mental illness and gun violence in the United States, 1997-2012. *American Journal of Public Health*, *104*(3), 406–413. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301557

- Mcshane, B. B., & Böckenholt, U. (2017). Single Paper Meta-analysis: Benefits for Study Summary, Theory-testing, and Replicability. *Journal of Consumer Research*, ucw085. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucw085
- Meko, D. M., Cook, E. R., Murphree, T., Green, P. M., Farrell, M. O., Steger, J. M., Baltz, K., Lorenzo, E. Di, Morgan, C. A., Combes, V., Peterson, W. T., Santora, J. A., Thompson, S. A., Marinovic, B. M., Lorenzo, E. Di, Lettenmaier, D. P., Hare, S. R., Zhang, Y., Wallace, J. M., ... Program, R. (2014).
 Publication bias in the social sciences: Unlocking the file drawer. *Science*, *345*(6203), 1502–1506.
- Meng, X.-L., Rosenthal, R., & Rubin, D. B. (1992). Comparing correlated correlation coefficients. *Psychological Bulletin*, *111*(1), 172.
- Mercier, B., Celniker, J., & Shariff, A. F. (2021). Overestimating Explicit Prejudice Causes Democrats to Believe Disadvantaged Groups are Less Electable. *Preprint*.
- Mercier, B., Norris, A., & Shariff, A. F. (2018). Muslim mass shooters are perceived as less mentally ill and more motivated by religion. *Psychology of Violence*, 8(6), 772–781. https://doi.org/10.1037/vio0000217
- Merino, S. M. (2010). Religious Diversity in a "Christian Nation": The Effects of Theological Exclusivity and Interreligious Contact on the Acceptance of Religious Diversity. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, *49*(2), 231–246. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5906.2010.01506.x
- Miller, A. J., Tewksbury, R., & Hensley, C. (2004). College students' perceptions of crime, prison and prisoners. *Criminal Justice Studies*, *17*(3), 311–328. https://doi.org/10.1080/1478601042000281132
- Mitnik, Z. S., Freilich, J. D., & Chermak, S. M. (2020). Post-9/11 Coverage of Terrorism in the New York Times. *Justice Quarterly*, 37(1), 161–185. https://doi.org/10.1080/07418825.2018.1488985
- Nagar, N. (2010). Who is Afraid of the T-word ? Labeling Terror in the Media Coverage of Political Violence. *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, *33*(6), 533–547.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10576101003752655
- Newman, B. J., & Hartman, T. K. (2019). Mass Shootings and Public Support for Gun Control. *British Journal of Political Science*, *49*(4), 1527–1553. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007123417000333
- Noor, M., Kteily, N., Siem, B., & Mazziotta, A. (2019). "Terrorist" or "mentally ill": Motivated biases rooted in partisanship shape attributions about violent actors. *Social Psychological and Personality*

Science, 10(4), 485-493. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550618764808

- O'Connell, M., & Whelan, A. (1996). The public perception of crime prevalence, newspaper readership and "mean world" attitudes. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, *1*(2), 179–195. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8333.1996.tb00317.x
- Office of the Press Secretary. (2001). Remarks by the President at Islamic Center of Washington, D.C. https://georgewbush-whitehouse.archives.gov/news/releases/2001/09/20010917-11.html
- Ogan, C., Willnat, L., Pennington, R., & Bashir, M. (2014). The rise of anti-Muslim prejudice: Media and Islamophobia in Europe and the United States. *International Communication Gazette*, *76*(1), 27–46. https://doi.org/10.1177/1748048513504048
- Oliver, M. B. (1994). Portrayals of Crime, Race, and Aggression in "Reality-Based" Police Shows: A Content Analysis. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 38(2), 179–192. https://doi.org/10.1080/08838159409364255
- Oliver, M. B. (2003). African American Men as "Criminal and Dangerous": Implications of Media Portrayals of Crime on the "Criminalization" of African American Men. *Journal of African American Studies*, *7*(2), 3–18.
- Osmundsen, M., Bor, A., Vahlstrup, P. B., Bechmann, A., & Petersen, M. B. (2020). Partisan polarization is the primary psychological motivation behind "fake news" sharing on Twitter. *Preprint*. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/v45bk
- Pagones, S. (2021). *Boulder shooting suspect Ahmad Al Aliwi Alissa: What we know*. Foxnews.Com. https://www.foxnews.com/us/boulder-shooting-suspect-ahmad-al-aliwi-alissa-what-we-know
- Pan, P. L., Meng, J., & Zhou, S. (2010). Morality or equality? Ideological framing in news coverage of gay marriage legitimization. *Social Science Journal*, *47*(3), 630–645. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soscij.2010.02.002
- Panagopoulos, C. (2006). The Polls-Trends: Arab and Muslim Americans and Islam in the aftermath of 9/11. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, *70*(4), 608–624.
- Pearl, J., & Mackenzie, D. (2018). The book of why: The new science of cause and effect. Basic Books.
- Peffley, M., Shields, T., & Williams, B. (1996). The intersection of race and crime in television news stories: An experimental study. *Political Communication*, *13*(3), 309–327.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10584609.1996.9963120

- Perry, K. (2016, July 13). After Orlando, American Attitudes Toward Muslims More Favorable than Before. *Arab America*. https://www.arabamerica.com/orlando-american-attitudes-toward-muslims-favorable/
- Peterson, J. K., & Densley, J. A. (2020). The Violence Project Database of Mass Shootings in the United States , 1966 2020.
- Pew Research Center. (2007). Public Expresses Mixed Views of Islam, Mormonism. https://www.peoplepress.org/2007/09/25/section-1-opinions-about-muslims-and-islam/

Pew Research Center. (2010). *Public Remains Conflicted Over Islam*. https://www.pewforum.org/2010/08/24/public-remains-conflicted-over-islam/

- Pew Research Center. (2017a). Americans Express Increasingly Warm Feelings Toward Religious Groups. https://www.pewforum.org/2017/02/15/americans-express-increasingly-warm-feelingstoward-religious-groups/
- Pew Research Center. (2017b). *Muslims and Islam: Key findings in the U.S. and around the world*. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/08/09/muslims-and-islam-key-findings-in-the-u-s-and-around-the-world/
- Pew Research Center. (2017c). Views of Islam and extremism in the U.S. and abroad. In *Pew Research Center*. https://www.people-press.org/2017/02/16/3-views-of-islam-and-extremism-in-the-u-s-and-abroad/
- Pew Research Center. (2018). Americans Still Prefer Watching to Reading the News and Mostly Still Through Television. https://www.journalism.org/2018/12/03/americans-still-prefer-watching-toreading-the-news-and-mostly-still-through-television/

Pew Research Center. (2019a). *Pew Research Center's American Trends Panel: Final Topline*. https://www.pewsocialtrends.org/wp-

content/uploads/sites/3/2019/04/PewResearchCenter_RaceStudy_Topline.pdf

Pew Research Center. (2019b). September 2019 Political Survey Final Topline. https://www.peoplepress.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/4/2019/10/PP_2019.10.01_Federal-Agencies_TOPLNE.pdf

Pew Research Center. (2019c). *What Americans Know About Religion*. https://www.pewforum.org/2019/07/23/feelings-toward-religious-groups/

- Pew Research Center. (2020). Americans' main sources for political news vary by party and age. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2020/04/01/americans-main-sources-for-political-news-varyby-party-and-age/
- Poindexter, P. M., Smith, L., & Heider, D. (2003). Race and Ethnicity in local Television News: Framing, Story Assignments, and Source Selections. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 47(4), 524– 536. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15506878jobem4704_3
- Porfiri, M., Sattanapalle, R. R., Nakayama, S., Macinko, J., & Sipahi, R. (2019). Media coverage and firearm acquisition in the aftermath of a mass shooting. *Nature Human Behaviour*, *3*(9), 913–921. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-019-0636-0
- Powell, K. A. (2011). Framing islam: An analysis of U.S. media coverage of terrorism since 9/11. *Communication Studies*, 62(1), 90–112. https://doi.org/10.1080/10510974.2011.533599
- Puglisi, R., & Snyder Jr, J. M. (2011). Newspaper coverage of political scandals. *The Journal of Politics*, 73(3), 931-950.
- R Core Team. (2019). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.r-project.org/
- Rane, H., Ewart, J., & Matinkus, J. (2014). Media-generated Muslims and Islamophobia. In *Media framing of the Muslim world* (pp. 29–46). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Romer, D., Jamieson, K. H., & De Coteau, N. J. (1998). The treatment of persons of color in local television news: Ethnic blame discourse or realistic group conflict? *Communication Research*, 25(3), 286–305. https://doi.org/10.1177/009365098025003002
- Roskos-Ewoldsen, D. R., Klinger, M. R., & Roskos-Ewoldsen, B. (2007). Media priming: A meta-analysis. In R. W. Preiss, B. Mae Gayle, N. Burrell, & M. Allen (Eds.), *Mass media effects research: Advances through meta-analysis* (pp. 53–80).
- Rosseel, Y. (2012). lavaan: An R package for structural equation modeling. R package version 0.5-15 http://lavaan.org. *Journal of Statistical Software*, *48*(2), 1–36.
- Rousseau, C., Hassan, G., Moreau, N., & Thombs, B. D. (2011). Perceived discrimination and its association with psychological distress among newly arrived immigrants before and after september 11, 2001. *American Journal of Public Health*, 101(5), 909–915.

https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.173062

- Saleem, M., Prot, S., Anderson, C. A., & Lemieux, A. F. (2017). Exposure to Muslims in Media and Support for Public Policies Harming Muslims. *Communication Research*, 44(6), 841–869. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650215619214
- Savelkoul, M., Scheepers, P., Tolsma, J., & Hagendoorn, L. (2011). Anti-Muslim Attitudes in The Netherlands: Tests of Contradictory Hypotheses Derived from Ethnic Competition Theory and Intergroup Contact Theory. *European Sociological Review*, 27(6), 741–758. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcq035
- Schildkraut, J., & Elsass, H. J. (2016). Mass shootings: Media, myths, and realities. ABC-CLIO.
- Schildkraut, J., Elsass, H. J., Meredith, K., Schildkraut, J., Elsass, H. J., & Mass, K. M. (2018). Mass shootings and the media : why all events are not created equal. *Journal of Crime and Justice*, *41*(3), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/0735648X.2017.1284689
- Schubert, J. N., Stewart, P. A., & Curran, M. A. (2002). A defining presidential moment: 9/11 and the rally effect. *Political Psychology*, *23*(3), 559–583. https://doi.org/10.1111/0162-895X.00298
- Ser, K. K. (2016). *Data: Hate crimes against Muslims increased after 9/11*. The World. https://www.pri.org/stories/2016-09-12/data-hate-crimes-against-muslims-increased-after-911
- Shaheen, J. G. (2003). Reel bad Arabs: How Hollywood vilifies a people. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, *588*(1), 171–193.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716203588001011

- Shaver, J. H., Sibley, C. G., Osborne, D., & Bulbulia, J. (2017). News exposure predicts anti-Muslim prejudice. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(3), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174606
- Sherman, J. W., Stroessner, S. J., Conrey, F. R., & Azam, O. A. (2005). Prejudice and stereotype maintenance processes: Attention, attribution, and individuation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 89(4), 607–622. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.89.4.607
- Sides, J., & Gross, K. (2013). Stereotypes of muslims and support for the war on terror. *Journal of Politics*, 75(3), 583–598. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022381613000388
- Silva, J. R. (2019). A Media Distortion Analysis of Mass Shootings. City University of New York.
- Simmons, J. P., Nelson, L. D., & Simonsohn, U. (2011). False-positive psychology: Undisclosed flexibility

in data collection and analysis allows presenting anything as significant. *Psychological Science*, 22(11), 1359–1366. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797611417632

- Slater, M. D., & Rasinski, K. A. (2005). Media exposure and attention as mediating variables influencing social risk judgments. *Journal of Communication*, 55(4), 810–827. https://doi.org/10.1093/joc/55.4.810
- Sorenson, S. B., Peterson Manz, J. G., & Berk, R. A. (1998). News media coverage and the epidemiology of homicide. *American Journal of Public Health*, *88*(10), 1510–1514. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.88.10.1510
- Stalans, L. J. (1993). Citizens' crime stereotypes, biased recall, and punishment preferences in abstract cases: The educative role of interpersonal sources. *Law and Human Behavior*, *17*(4), 451–470. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01044378
- Stanford Mass Shootings in America. (2012). *Mass Shootings in America*. https://library.stanford.edu/projects/mass-shootings-america
- Taylor, C. A., & Sorenson, S. B. (2002). The nature of newspaper coverage of homicide. *Injury Prevention*, 8(2), 121–127. https://doi.org/10.1136/ip.8.2.121
- Tetlock, P. E. (2003). Thinking the unthinkable: Sacred values and taboo cognitions. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 7(7), 320–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(03)00135-9
- Trussler, M., & Soroka, S. (2014). Consumer Demand for Cynical and Negative News Frames. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, *19*(3), 360–379. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161214524832
- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1973). Availability: A heuristic for judging frequency and probability. *Cognitive Psychology*, *5*(2), 207–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0285(73)90033-9
- Valentino, N. A. (1999). Crime News and the Priming of Racial Attitudes During Evaluations of the President. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, *63*(3), 293–320.
- Vandiver, M., & Giacopassi, D. (1997). One million and counting: Students' estimates of the annual number of homicides in the U.S. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, *21*(1), 135–143. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511259700086261
- Vedantam, S. (2017). *Classifying Attacks: Mental Illness Or Terrorism?* NPR. https://www.npr.org/2017/10/05/555796306/classifying-attacks-mental-illness-or-terrorism

- Velásquez, D., Medina, S., Yamada, G., Lavado, P., Nunez-del-Prado, M., Alatrista-Salas, H., & Morzán, J. (2020). I read the news today, oh boy: The effect of crime news coverage on crime perception. *World Development*, *136*, 105111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105111
- Vosgerau, J., Simonsohn, U., Nelson, L. D., & Simmons, J. P. (2019). 99% impossible: A valid, or falsifiable, internal meta-analysis. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, *148*(9), 1628–1639. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000663
- Wadley, J. (2019). Some US Muslims identify less as Americans due to negative media coverage. Michigan News. https://news.umich.edu/some-us-muslims-identify-less-as-americans-due-tonegative-media-coverage/
- Wanta, W., & Hu, Y. W. (1994). Time-lag differences in the agenda-setting process: An examination of five news media. *International Journal of Public Opinion Research*, *6*(3), 225–240. https://doi.org/10.1093/ijpor/6.3.225
- Weaver, D. A., & Scacco, J. M. (2013). Revisiting the Protest Paradigm: The Tea Party as Filtered through Prime-Time Cable News. *International Journal of Press/Politics*, 18(1), 61–84. https://doi.org/10.1177/1940161212462872
- Weinberg, L., Pedahzur, A., & Hirsch-Hoefler, S. (2004). The Challenges of Conceptualizing Terrorism. *Terrorism and Political Violence*, *16*(4), 777–794. https://doi.org/10.1080/095465590899768
- West, K., & Lloyd, J. (2017). The Role of Labeling and Bias in the Portrayals of Acts of "Terrorism": Media Representations of Muslims vs. Non-Muslims. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, 37(2), 211–222. https://doi.org/10.1080/13602004.2017.1345103
- Wilson, L. C. (2014). Mass Shootings : A Meta-Analysis of the Dose-Response Relationship. Journal of Traumatic Stress, 27(6), 631–638. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.
- Wysocki, A., Lawson, K. M., & Rhemtulla, M. (2012). Statistical Control Requires Causal Justification. *Preprint*.
- Zigerell, L. J. (2018). Black and White discrimination in the United States : Evidence from an archive of survey experiment studies. *Research and Politics*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1177/2053168017753862

APPENDIX A

Perceptions of Mass Shooters question:

In this survey, we are interested in your beliefs about past mass shooters in the United States. Below, please estimate the number of mass shooters in the United States in the last 10 years (i.e. between Jan 1st, 2010 and Jan 1st 2020) who were from each of the groups below.

When we say "mass shooting', we specifically mean an event which meets the following definition:

A multiple homicide incident in which four or more victims are murdered with firearms—not including the offender(s)—within one event, and at least some of the murders occurred in a public location or locations in close geographical proximity (e.g., a workplace, school, restaurant, or other public settings), and the murders are not attributable to any other underlying criminal activity or commonplace circumstance (armed robbery, criminal competition, insurance fraud, argument, or romantic triangle).

Note that the totals below may add up to greater than 100%, as shooters can belong to multiple groups.

	0	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100
Percentage of mass shooters who were Muslim	F	_							_		
Percentage of mass shooters who were Christian	ŀ										
Percentage of mass shooters who were Mentally Ill											
Percentage of mass shooters who were White	-									_	
Percentage of mass shooters who were Black											
Percentage of mass shooters who were Hispanic	F										

In the last 10 years, what percentage of mass shooters in the United States fell into the following categories:

APPENDIX B

Scale Measuring Support for Anti Muslim Policies:

Please indicate your support for the following policies on the scale below:

	strongly disagree	Disagree	Somewhat disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Somewhat agree	Agree	Strongly agree
Muslims should be banned from entering the United States	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Law enforcement should spend more time patrolling Muslim neighborhoods than non-Muslim neighborhoods	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Muslims should receive extra screening when passing though airport security	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
The government should keep a registry of Muslims	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Muslims should receive extra screening before they are allowed to purchase guns	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
When someone who is Muslim purchases a gun, they should not have to undergo any more screening than anyone else does	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Airport security should not spend more time screening Muslims than they spend screening anyone else	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Muslim neighborhoods to not need more policing than any other neighborhood does	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

APPENDIX C

Within Paper Meta-Analysis Reported in General Discussion

I used an online calculator at <u>https://www.meta-mar.com/smd</u> to calculate and combine standardized mean differences. The Muslim effect from Study 4 (Muslim vs Control) has a standardized mean difference of 0.34, 95% CI [0.18, 0.497]. The average Christian effect across Study 4 (Christian vs Control) and Study 6B (Christian vs control) is .08, 95% CI [.03, 0.18]. To compare these effects, I used the following formula (from <u>http://www.metafor-</u>

project.org/doku.php/tips:comp_two_independent_estimates):

$$z = rac{\hat{\mu}_1 - \hat{\mu}_2}{\sqrt{SE[\hat{\mu}_1]^2 + SE[\hat{\mu}_2]^2}},$$

Where:

z = the z-score

 u_1 = the standardized mean difference for effect 1

 u_2 = the standardized mean difference for effect 2

 $SE[u_1]$ = the standard error of effect 1

 $SE[u_2]$ = the standard error of effect 2

Using this formula, I found that the Muslim effect in Study 4 was significantly different from the Christian effects (Study 4 and 6B combined), z = 2.7, p = .008. When comparing the Fox News articles in Study 5, I did not find that the effects are significantly different from each other, z = 1.5, p = 0.126.